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Corporate Profile
NS

Vedan International (Holdings) Ltd. has been listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong since 2003. The Group
is the leading producer of fermentation-based amino acids, food
additive products and cassava starch-based industrial products in
Asia. Our products are sold to food distributors, international trading
companies, and manufacturers of food, paper, textile, and chemical
products in Vietnam and other ASEAN countries, the PRC, Japan,
Taiwan and several European countries. Most of our products are
marketed under the VEDAN brand name.
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Corporate Profile
NS

Since the 1970s, our products have been marketed in Vietnam, the
PRC, and other ASEAN countries. To accelerate market expansion, the
Group established Vietnam Vedan in 1991 as our major production
base. Since then, the Group's production has undergoing continuous
expansion due to strong growing demand. The Group is currently
the largest MSG producer in the Southeast Asian region, and the
largest supplier of lysine and cassava starch-based industrial products
in Vietnam. In 1995, Vedan acquired a factory in Xiamen to focus on
developing the PRC market. In 2004, the Group further acquired the
assets and MSG business of Shanghai Vedan Foods Company Limited,
which will be developed into its business operations center in the
PRC, signifying its determination and commitment to become a major
player in the PRC market. To ensure the Group has a stable supply of
starch and a strong production platform for starch related products,
Vedan Vietnam acquired Ve-Thai Tapioca-Starch Co. Ltd. in November
2005. In December the same year, Shandong Vedan Snowflake
Enterprise Co., Ltd. was established and started production of GA
in April 2006. Shangdong Vedan Snowflake will play a crucial role
in Vedan's global supply chain in the future, allowing it to meet the
demand and to stabilize prices of raw materials, hence facilitate its
business development strategy in China.

Leveraging on our production facilities located in Vietnam and
China, steady upstream supply of raw materials, our possessing of
advanced fermentation production technology and other biochemical
processing technology, coupled with the experienced management
team, the Group boasts strong competitiveness over its peers.
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Corporate Information
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS * =& 3 ih Bk
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Financial Highlights
B 15 4 22

BE+-HA=+t—HLHFE

For the year ended 31 December

2008 2007

Uss$’000 USs$’'000 Change

(F%5x) (F%7x) 1t
Turnover S 348,557 317,431 9.8%
Profit from operations el e 13,462 20,738 (35.1%)
Net profit il 8,403 16,856 (50.1%)
Shareholders’ funds J% 5 A 25 257,910 257,716 0.1%
Basic earnings per share (US cents) FRERZF (FEMN) 0.55 1.11 (50.4%)
Diluted earnings per share (US cents) FR#BBHRF (EMN) 0.55 1.10 (50.4%)
Interim dividend per share (US cents) RERRE B (3EAL) 0.3050 0.26202 33.5%
Final dividend per share (US cents) HARRR B (L) - 0.29105 =
Dividend payout ratio K B 55% 50% 10%
TURNOVER & ¥ %8 NET PROFIT £
12 months ended 31 Dec 2008 12 months ended 31 Dec 2008

BHE-_ZTN\FE+-_A=+—HIL+-@EA
in US$'000 F% 7t

2008 I 348,557
2007 —— 317,431
2006 [ 290,695

TURNOVER BY PRODUCTS
REGRITE2EXER

12 months ended 31 Dec 2008
HE-_ZZN\F+-_A=+—HIt+-@EA
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BaR
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6.5% Others Hfth
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2008 I

in US$'000 F %7t

2007 EE—

2006 ©

8,403
16,856
10,915

TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION

RitEDE 2 EXERE
12 months ended 31 Dec 2008
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Long-established in Asia, Vedan International (Holdings) Limited is a premier manufacturer
of fermentation-based amino acids, food additive and cassava starch-based products. Its
prominent reputation has been built on the quality manufacture of MSG, a key food additive
lying at the heart of the unique tastes of Asia’s two billion consumers. The Group’s vision
of the future is simple: to expand and enrich its markets across the Asian region while
developing new products for the demand of consumers.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

The Group reported satisfactory operational and financial results
in the first three quarters of 2008. However, came the fourth
quarter during which the global financial crisis hit and the Group
had to cut production at the Vietnam plant because of violation of
environmental standards in September, sales of major products of
the Group were affected and in turn the overall performance of the
Group fell below expectation.

For the entire year, the Group made US$348,557,000 in turnover, up
9.8% when compared with 2007. Excluding the about US$7,729,000
environmental fee paid by the Vietnam plant, net operating profit
was approximately US$16,132,000. Deducting the environmental
fee, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted
to US$8,403,000, around 50% lower than that of 2007. The fee of
US$7,713,000 was deemed appropriate by the Vietnam government
as a result of the incident of violation of environmental standards by
the plant in September 2008. The amount would be recognized in all
in FY 2008 according to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.
At the same time, the Group cut production of MSG, lysine and
starch products because of restriction of environmental protection
provisions, hence the sales, turnover and profitability of the products
declined. Furthermore, profit from the Shandong plant was lower
than expected because the adjustment in selling prices was not able
to reflect risen raw material and fuel costs fully. It led to lowered
profit and ultimately affected the Group's overall profitability.
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By geographical market and business segment, excluding the 6.55%
decrease in the Vietnam market affected by the environmental issue,
all markets of the Group reported growth, in particular the Japan
market, which surged 54.8%. As for the China and ASEAN markets,
they grew by 10% and 6.2% respectively. Other regions, including
Europe, the US and Korea, though accounted only for approximately
9% of the Group's total turnover, boasted together an about 34.4%
leap in turnover against 2007. By product, sales of core products in
2008 had steady growth, with sales of MSG, modified starch and
specialty chemicals all reported double-digit growth in their main
markets. Seasonings and fertilizers which the Group has been actively
promoting recently recorded 95.3% and 124% growth respectively.
These operational results speak to the promising prospects of the
new businesses of the Group.

The environmental issue at the Vietnam plant was a result of
operational negligence of the Group. To meet fast growing demand
for its products in the market, the Group had focused mainly on
boosting production capacity and neglected the need to make sure
environmental provisions at the plant are upgraded to match the
capacity expansion. This led to wastewater discharge from the plant
failing to meet environmental protection standards. After the matter
came to light when relevant government department inspected the
plant in September, the Group immediately began to implement
remedial measures including upgrading the three sets of wastewater
treatment equipment at the plant, drawing up plan to install two
new sets of wastewater treatment equipment and additional recycling
facilities including special condensation equipment and a solid
fertilizer plant.

The by-products including wastewater and fermentation liquors
the Vietnam plant produces do not contain any toxic substance
and heavy metal that are harmful to human beings. However, the
fermentation liquors contain amino acids, bacterial proteins and other
nutrients, which can be condensed and turned into fertilizers and
animal feeds. The CMS, Vedagro and solid fertilizers produced now
are all sold in Vietnam and to overseas markets. In the incident, the
Vietnam government not only required the Group to improve and
upgrade the environmental protection equipment at the plant, but
also imposed a fine of US$16,000 and an additional environmental
fee amounting to US$7,713,000 to be paid in two years.
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The environment issue was the primary factor affecting the operation
and profitability of the Group for 2008 in addition to causing
material impacts on the production, sales, good will and capital
standing of the Vietnam plant. The management would like to
take this opportunity to apologise to the people of Vietnam and
shareholders for the inconvenience caused to them by the incident.
The Group also wishes to pledge determination to and confidence
in completing improvement works at the plant as promised and
becoming a green enterprise.

Vedan Vietnam will implement remedial measures pursuant to the
requirements of local government including improving the existing
wastewater treatment equipment at the plant, installing additional
wastewater treatment facilities and establishing a new production
plant for recycling by-products into fertilizer products. At the
same time, the Group has commenced trial production of Bio-gas
(Biological fuel) at its starch plants in Binh Phuoc and Gai Lai of
Vietnam at the beginning of 2009, which agrees with the Clean
Development Mechanism (“CDM") with emphasis on environmentally
friendly processing and lowering of carbon emissions advocated
by the United Nations. The Ha Tinh starch plant will also start
related trial production in the third quarter this year. Furthermore,
the Company has started work in relation to securing 1ISO14001
certification and expects to gain accreditation within 2009. The
Group hopes to achieve a complete change in the organisation in the
aspect of environmental protection from its operational principles to
both the hardware and software of its management system. Its goal
is to become an environmentally responsible enterprise that runs a
business conducive to the sustainability of the world.

At the break of the incident, the Group took a number of
immediate measures to maintain stability of its daily operation and
alleviate adverse impacts from the issue. These measures included
activating the raw material supply chain to ease pressure from the
production cut. The Group also placed order for additional relevant
environmental protection equipment, which will be installed and are
expected to gradually begin operation this year. By then, the Vietnam
plant will be able to resume full production.
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In 2009, the world will continue to be overshadowed by the global
economic downturn. Raw material prices are expected to soften, but
the selling prices of products will also face pressures resulting from
market factors. Given the uncertain economy and the temporary
reduced capacity of the Vietnam plant, the Group will take a more
prudent approach in operating its business in the coming year, aiming
for profit, combination of flexible application of its raw material and
product supply chains, stronger sales in major markets, stable selling
prices of products and lower costs.

The Group will also capitalise on the change in the economic
environment to consolidate its overall marketing strategy and
strengthen its distribution channel set up so as to gain direct control
over its sales network and raise the value of the distribution channels.
Furthermore, heeding the liberalised market for trading activities
in Vietnam, the Group will seek to begin related trading and sales
businesses riding on already established channels. The Group will
also look for different opportunities and cooperative projects in the
growingly open and mature business environment in Vietnam. By
combining its local advantages and international experience, the
Group is hopeful of achieving integrated benefits and additional
synergies for its operations.

Although the Group was affected by the poor economic environment
and the production cut at its Vietnam plant in the past year, the
management believes the Group has strong fundamentals and
competitive strengths to assume market leadership, and also is
presented with a growth market. The environment issue has no doubt
dealt a blow on the Group's short-term performance, but when
the improvement measures are eventually completed, the Group
is confident of becoming a proud green enterprise and delivering
outstanding production and sales performances. Here, again, the
Group apologises for its negligence and hopes to prove in time its
sincerity in honouring its responsibility to the society and improving
its profitability. We are determined not to disappoint the society and
our shareholders who have placed their trust in us and have high
hopes for us over the years.

By order of the Board

Yang, Tou-Hsiung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 April 2009
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STANDING OUT
IN A SPECIALIZED
INDUSTRY

As a successful long-term player in a market with significant entry barriers, Vedan
International has distinct competitive advantages that add real value to its products. With
advanced expertise in large-scale fermentation technology, starch processing conversion
technology and chemical and electro-chemical technology, Vedan International is developing
new products which represent the latest breakthroughs in industrial science and look set to
be major profit drivers in the future.

KABRBRARENEXZATREES MEBERMEIHES ERATS
BREOZFEZDEMNMEENEERERT - HEARE ZBE BB M
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In 2008, the Group, like most of the enterprises around the world,
had to face severe challenges resulting from drastic changes in
the financial, economic and raw material scenes. The business
environment in Vietnam, the main production base of the Group, also
saw rapid changes during the year. In the past few years, Vietnam
has been among the fastest growing economies in Asia with an
average GDP growth of 8% between 2003 and 2007. In the first
half of 2008, the overheated economy pushed inflation up to the
high of around 25% in May as compared to that of in May 2007
and prompted the Vietnamese government to tighten monetary
policy as a means to contain the situation. That was the reason for
the lending rate of the Vietnam Dong to stand above 19% in mid-
2008. At the same time, to cut trade deficit and alleviate the pressure
on the Vietnam Dong to depreciate, import control measures were
implemented. Stepping into the second half year, hit by the global
financial tsunami, economies around the world slipped into recession.
The phenomenon, though helpful to countering inflation in Vietnam,
also caused international oil price and prices of agricultural products
to drop. This dealt a serious blow to Vietnam which relies heavily on
export to overseas markets including the US, EU countries and Japan
and with crude oil and agricultural products making up the bulk of
her exports. Subjected to all these factors, the annual GDP growth of
the country in 2008 was 6.23%, lower than the 7% forecast.

Vedan Vietnam, the main operating arm of the Group, and its
business in particular were inevitably affected by the drastic changes
in the economic and financial situations in the country and the world.
At the same time, due to too rapid expansion, the Group was also
adversely impacted by the incident of breach of wastewater discharge
regulations in September requiring it to re-pay US$7,713,000
environmental fee and stop or cut down on production to meet
environmental protection regulations. The Group took responsibility
for its flaw and spared no effort in working with relevant
departments to initiate timely remedies. In addition to upgrading
existing treatment system, the other plans, including installing
additional wastewater treatment equipment and expanding the solid
fertilizer plant to facilitate recycle of resources, will be completed
in the second or third quarter of 2009. Production in full capacity is
expected to resume in the fourth quarter of 2009.

Although the Group’s production base in Vietnam was affected by
the aforementioned external and internal factors and the need to
cut production in the fourth quarter last year, with a long history
and strong foundation in the country, it still managed to achieve
around 10% growth, or US$31,126,000, in turnover against 2007
to US$348,557,000, with MSG, modified starch and fertilizer as the
main growth drivers. The growth of modified starch business was
mainly attributable to its increased selling price whereas that of
fertilizer mainly came from the notably increased productivity brought
about by the solid fertilizer plant which was expanded in the first half
of 2008.
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Sales in the Vietnam market decreased by approximately 6.55%,
mainly as a result of the production cut on including MSG and GA
in the last quarter. Furthermore, exporters in Vietnam, many of
whom are clients of the Company, were also affected by the slack
international market overshadowed by the global financial crisis, and
that in turn impacted on the sales of specialty chemicals and fertilizer
of the Group in Vietnam in the fourth quarter.

As for the Japanese market, building on the long-term and close
relationship it has with customers and the robust demand in the
market, the Group managed to grow sales to the market by an
impressive 54.81%.

During the year, the China market grew by 9.96%, mainly
attributable to the steady rise in sales of MSG, particularly the small
pack MSG products, and starch products of Xiamen Maotai and
Shanghai Vedan.

The first phase of Ha Tinh starch factory in Vietnam was completed
at the end of 2008. When the plant begins production in the first
quarter of 2009, the starch division of the Group will have added
strength to achieve diversification of raw material sources and
securing raw materials at more competitive costs. Furthermore,
heeding the commitment to open rights to retail and trade operations
to foreign companies in 2009 made by Vietnam on accession to
the WTO, the Company has redeployed its resources, adjusted its
distribution system, recruited new hands and improved its marketing
strategy so as to capture business opportunities and deliver
remarkable performance.

Gross profit of the Group for the year was US$64,509,000,
representing an increase of 6.5% when compared to US$60,586,000
in 2007. Gross profit margin was 18.5%, slightly lower than the
19.1% recorded in 2007. Net profit amounted to US$6,409,000,
with the net profit margin at 1.8%. Moreover, the suspension and
cut in production of the Vietnam plant to meet environmental
regulations in the fourth quarter also affected the turnover and profit
for the year. Having actively remedied the situation by installing
relevant wastewater treatment equipment, the Group is confident
of increasing production of the plant by quarter and resuming full
capacity production in the fourth quarter of 2009 to again deliver
remarkable results and profit.
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Vietnam has been the biggest market of the Company for
long and has continuously reported steady growth over
the years. The growth rate for the three years starting
from 2005 were 9.6%, 9.1% and 5.2% respectively. In
the fourth quarter of 2008, because of efforts to improve
environmental protection provisions at the Vietnam plant,
the Group adjusted the product mix and decreased the
output volumes of different products including MSG, GA
and lysine, which accounted for a significant share of
sales in the Vietnam market. As a result, sales of these
products in the local market decreased by 6.8%, 31.6%
and 15.1% respectively when compared with 2007. Sales
of other products in Vietnam were also affected to some
extent, but because of higher selling prices, turnover
growth was still recorded. Turnover from specialty
chemicals increased by US$3,351,000 or 23%, fertilizer
by US$1,692,000 or 48.3% and modified starch by 1.8%.
Total turnover decreased by US$10,430,000, or 6.5%,
making Vietnam the only market reporting a decreased
turnover among all markets of the Group for the year.
Turnover from Vietnam accounted for 42.7% of the
Group total as compared to 50.1% in 2007.

2008 2007 Increase/Decrease
# R+
Area it & Amount % Amount % Amount %
Vietnam ) 148,860 42.7% 159,290 50.1% (10,430) -6.5%
Japan SN 73,523 21.1% 47,492 15.0% 26,031 54.8%
The PRC AR 57,229 16.4% 52,047 16.4% 5,182 10.0%
ASEAN Countries R 36,956 10.6% 34,794 11.0% 2,162 6.2%
Other regions HApb 31,989 9.2% 23,808 7.5% 8,181 34.4%
Total 4B £ 348,557 100.0% 317,431 100.0% 31,126 9.8%
Vietnam (—) HETE
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In 2009, Vietnam will continue to be affected by the
global financial crisis and challenges from the world in
recession. However, the Group will take this opportunity
to improve its distribution channels and rationalize its
distributor mechanism so as to match the development
and demand of the Vietnam market in the future.
Furthermore, it will strengthen its ability to adapt to
market changes and consider adding new product
categories and boosting trading business to ensure that
the Vietnam market can maintain steady growth.

Japan

Turnover from Japan was US$73,523,000, up by
US$26,031,000, or 54.8%, making it the fastest growing
market of the Group for the year. The market accounted
for 21.1% of the total turnover of the Group, second
to Vietnam, and a significant increase when compared
to 15% in 2007. Such increase was mainly attributable
to the substantial increase in sales of MSG and modified
starch. Japan has been the main export market of the
Group’s MSG. Although production of MSG was cut
in the fourth quarter, having signed long term supply
contracts with Japanese clients, the Group supplied MSG
products to Japan market first. Furthermore, at the effort
to boost sales of the modified starch division in recent
years, MSG and modified starch recorded sales growth of
58.2% and 46.5% respectively in 2008. This is also proof
of the strong foothold enjoyed by the MSG and modified
starch products of the Group in the Japan market.

ASEAN Countries

In spite of the great market demand for MSG, sales of
this product decreased slightly because of the shorter
supply from production cut. In particular, in the fourth
quarter, the Company stopped selling GA but used it to
produce MSG to meet market demand, and that caused
sales of GA in ASEAN countries to drop by 12.9%. As
for the fertilizer division, with strong demand in ASEAN
countries and its effort to grow business in the market in
the first three quarters, sales of solid fertilizer grew four
times during the year. The overall turnover from ASEAN
countries increased by 6.2% when compared with 2007
and accounted for 10.6% of the total turnover of the
Group, slightly lower than 11% in 2007. The ASEAN
market is expected to deliver a higher growth after the
Vietnamese plant resumes production in full capacity.
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China

The market grew by 16.3% in 2007 and continued
to grow a strong 10.0% during the year, or by
US$5,182,000, to US$57,229,000. The main growth
contributor was MSG, which grew by 33.8% with
turnover totalling US$10,511,000. For GA, however,
because of its strategic shift into producing MSG, its
turnover was dropped by US$7,308,000. For modified
starch, its turnover decreased slightly by 3.7%, or
US$269,000, mainly because of the production cut at
the Vietnam plant in the fourth quarter. Other products,
such as seasonings and beverages, recorded satisfactory
growth. Turnover from the China market accounted for
16.4% of the Group's total turnover, similar to last year's
level.
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Others () At
Other regions mainly include Europe, the US and Korea, FTERBMN EBRER TE
and they continued to deliver outstanding performance F¥FEF2BAIKRE 2FKE
as it was in the first half. Turnover from these markets 34.4% £ &5 %8,181,000% 7T
climbed 34.4%, or US$8,181,000, to US$31,989,000 for & U3£31,989,0003 7T ° KR 2R EF A
the year. With the European Union (“EU") imposing anti- BN 5 - EEEE R B IR S R
dumping duty on MSG products from China, the market BRIBHET  HEEYRMKN S A
will present opportunities to the Vietnam plant to expand EREEMSEEES —Eksg -
business there.
Unit: US$'000 Bz FE7T
2008 2007 Change
Rt
Item EHAB Amount % Amount % Amount %
MSG K45 237,395 68.1% 204,682 64.4% 32,713 16.0%
GA na g 19,334 5.6% 36,925 11.6% (17,591) -47.6%
LYSINE 7B A Bk 20,448 5.9% 20,798 6.6% (350) -1.7%
STARCH-M =) 30,378 8.7% 25,916 8.2% 4,462 17.2%
SEASONING EEL N 2,541 0.7% 1,301 0.4% 1,240 95.3%
Specially Chemicals % A{L25H 18,195 5.2% 14,844 4.7% 3,351 22.6%
FERTILIZER fE A 12,117 3.5% 5,410 1.7% 6,707 124.0%
OTHERS H At 8,149 2.3% 7,555 2.4% 594 7.9%
TOTAL B 348,557 100.0% 317,431 100.0% 31,126 9.8%



MSG and GA

Turnover of MSG business in the year grew by 16%, or
US$32,713,000, against 2007. The increase in turnover
was mainly attributable to higher product prices that
reflected higher material costs, and strong demand
for MSG in the Japan and EU markets. However, the
Group had to reduce GA production to accommodate
enhancement of environmental provisions. With the
understanding of customers, it reduced GA supply
substantially and used it to produce MSG to satisfy
their demand. Therefore, the turnover from GA for the
year only amounted to US$19,334,000, representing a
sharp decrease of 47.6%, or US$17,591,000. The Group
expects to resume normal production of GA in the fourth
quarter of 2009 and to see turnover from the product
to return to previous level thereafter. MSG business
accounted for 68.1% of the total turnover of the Group
versus 64.4% last year and the proportion of turnover
contribution of GA dropped from 11.6% to 5.6%.

Lysine

International lysine price gradually increased resulted
in 99.6% turnover growth in the first half of 2008
against the last corresponding year. However, in view
of the environmental issue in the second half year, the
Group had to reduce lysine production and shift part
of it to producing GA as well as focus on producing
MSG. The move resulted in an overall drop of 1.7%, or
US$350,000, in turnover from lysine despite its risen
selling price. Bringing in a turnover of US$20,448,000,
lysine accounted for 5.9% of the total turnover of the
Group in 2008, down from 6.6% in 2007.
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Modlfied Starch

Affected by the environmental protection incident, sales
volume of modified starch decreased. However, claiming
a higher selling price, the product segment managed to
report a 17.2% growth, or US$4,462,000, in turnover
to US$30,378,000. The amount accounted for 8.7%
of the total turnover of the Group, slightly higher than
8.2% in the previous year. Sales to Japan grew the fastest
among all regions for the year. Regarding environmental
improvement work at the modified starch factory, the
Group had drawn up related plans which are being
gradually implemented. The factory is expected to resume
full production in the second or third quarter of 2009.
Together with the additional capacity of the new plant in
Ha Tinh, which will begin operation in the first quarter of
2009, the Group expected to see growth in turnover from
starch products.

Specialty chemicals

Sales volume of caustic soda and hydrochloric acid
remained steady braced by the stable demand in Vietnam.
However, with their selling prices increased, they brought
in turnover of US$18,195,000, representing a 22.6%
rise, or US$3,351,000, against last year. The turnover
contribution from the segment to total turnover increased
slightly from 4.7% in 2007 to 5.2% for the year.

Fertilizer

The solid fertilizer plant completed installation of new
equipment in the first half of the year and doubled its
output. That plus the increased international selling price
of fertilizers, the segment made US$6,707,000 more in
turnover for the year, or up by 124% against 2007 to
UsS$12,117,000. In 2009, the plant will be expanded
further and have its capability in enabling environmental
protection and recycling resources boosted. Operation
is expected to commence in the fourth quarter of 2009
when the Group will be able to achieve a better turnover
from the segment and grow the segment into a major
business stream.
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The price of major raw materials remained high in the first three
quarters of 2008 and came down notably in the fourth quarter.
However, the drop in price of molasses had not been as deep as that
of cassava and liquid ammonia. In general, the prices of raw materials
only decline more markedly starting in the fourth quarter when
the Group had to cut down production to ensure compliance with
environmental requirements. As a result, fixed cost increased and
overall production cost did not benefit from the lower material prices.

During the year, international molasses prices remained at
similar level as in 2007. The price of local supply of molasses
from Vietnam increased slightly, thus the Group adjusted its
material mix and increased the usage proportion of cassava
which price had declined markedly to help lower production
cost. With sugar cane harvest expected to drop in 2009 and
market demand for molasses expected to remain strong, there
will be little room of the prices of molasses to come down.

Rocketing cassava price in the production season in 2007/2008
had prompted farmers to increase the scale of their planation
and as a result the price of cassava subsequently declined
notably. The Group thus used more cassava starch as raw
material to help lower production costs. The new starch plant in
Ha Tinh that started production in the first quarter of 2009 will
ensure the Group has steady supply of cassava starch at stable
cost.

As the price of cassava lowered in the production season in
2008/2009, farmers may reduce the scale of their plantation
and as a result the price of the material may go up again in the
next harvest season.

During the period, the prices of liquid ammonia almost doubled
on average in first three quarters, reflecting the climb in natural
gas price. The prices of the material plunged in the fourth
quarter, but overall the Group spent over 60% more on the raw
material than in 2007 and shouldered greater cost burden. In
20009, the prices of liquid ammonia are expected to come down
from the high in 2008, thus help lower production costs in
2009.
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As at the end of December 2008, cash and bank deposits
of the Group amounted to US$36,286,000, which was
Us$18,580,000, or 104.9%, higher than that of in 2007.
Bank borrowings increased by US$8,056,000, or 17.9%, to
US$53,152,000. Although bank borrowings had a moderate
increase, net borrowings had reduced, and that resulted in the
lowering of the Group’s current ratio from 2.2 in 2007 to 1.8.
Net gearing ratio fell from 10.9% to 6.5%, indicative of the
healthy financial structure of the Group. Bank borrowings are
mainly denominated in the US dollar (88%), Renminbi (10%)
and the Taiwan dollar (2%). For the year, the total finance cost
was US$3,639,000. Excluding interest income of US$2,267,000
(mainly from the fixed deposit of Vietnam Dong), net finance
cost was US$1,372,000, accounting for 0.4% of the total
turnover of the Group compared to 1.4% in 2007. Certain
middle-to long-term loans were due during the year, hence
the debt level of the Group dropped from US$15,621,000
to US$7,552,000. Of all the loans, 14.2% were middle-to
long-term loans and 85.8% were short-term loans. Gearing
ratio (bank loans/shareholders interest) was 20.8%. As at 31
December 2008, net asset value of the Group amounted to
Us$257,910,000.

During the year, the Group’s capital expenditure amounted to
approximately US$16,000,000, comprising that allocated for
the starch plant in Ha Tinh in 2007, expenditure on Bio-gas
equipment for the Phuoc Long starch factory and Gia Lai Starch
Factory, and first payment installment for works in relation to
set up a solid fertilizer plant and purchase of concentration
equipment. Capital expenditure in 2009 is expected to amount
to US$30,000,000, mainly used in the investment of solid
fertilizer plant, wastewater related facility improvement work
and Bio-gas equipment, etc. The Group has secured middle-to
long-term loans from banks for constructing the solid fertilizer
plant and purchase of wastewater treatment equipment. In
the light of the current global economic condition and credit
crunch, the Group will withhold non-urgent investment,
such as the material projects in Cambodia and Laos, and also
exercise more stringent capital expenditure control. The Group's
liquidity and available credit facilities from banks are considered
sufficient for supporting capital expenditure in 2009, hence
maintaining a healthy financial position.
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The Vietnam Dong appreciated by a slightly 0.2% in 2007
because of rapid increase in foreign capital inflow. However,
trade deficit increased in mid-2008 and posed depreciation
pressure on the currency. To address the situation, the Central
Bank of Vietnam relaxed the daily trading ceiling between the
US dollar and Vietnam Dong three times, with the last took
place in November bringing the rate to =0.3% of the official
rate. The Vietnam Dong depreciated by approximately 5.4% for
the year, a relative mild magnitude when compared with those
of other Asian countries. Contributing to over 50% of total
sales, export sales of Vedan Vietnam for the year were mainly
settled in US dollars. The weaker Vietnam Dong was favourable
to the development of export business of the Group. As for
China business, with turnover mainly derived from domestic
sales and the exchange rate between RMB and US dollar
staying stable during the year, the business segment was not
materially affected by exchange rate fluctuation.

With the Vietnam plant making unsatisfactory profit in the
second half of 2008 because of the need to recognise the
spending on environmental fee and the impact of production
cut, the Board proposed not to pay final dividend for the year.

In early September 2008, the Environmental Protection Department
of Vietnam visited the Vietnam plant to inspect on related provisions
and found that the environmental protection and resourcelization
of production equipment of the plant had fallen behind the needs
of its boosted production capacity. This resulted in breaching certain

wastewater discharge regulations.

In early October, the Vietnam

government made the following three major decisions regarding the
incident:

)

The Group has to pay a US$16,000 fine according to the
environmental protection ordinance

The Group has to re-pay environmental fee totaling
US$7,713,000 accrued since 2004 deemed appropriate by the
Department
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3)  Wastewater discharged from the plant shall comply with
environmental protection regulations, and the Group shall duly
submit a full environmental protection improvement proposal
to the Environmental Protection Department for approval and
implement the proposal afterwards.

Upon receipt of the formal notice, the Group made an announcement
on the above issue on 9 October 2008 as obliged by the rules of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange immediately. It set up an environmental
protection emergency taskforce after the incident came to light to
implement immediate and mid-term improvement measures. Short-
term improvements included enhancing the current wastewater
treatment capability and quality, optimising production processes,
reducing wastewater discharge and lowering production capacity
to ensure compliance with environmental protection standards yet
continue production. As for mid-term improvements, they included
drawing up an improvement proposal based on “3R" (waste
reduction, reuse and recycling) entailing plans to install additional
wastewater treatment equipment and expand the production facilities
in the liquid and solid fertilizer plants. The Group expects the major
equipment for related works to be delivered around June in 2009 and
installation and testing of them to be completed in the third quarter,
and full scale production to resume in the fourth quarter.

Learning from the mistake, the Group is determined to not only meet
the legal requirements on environmental protection in Vietnam, but
also excel those requirements and become an outstanding green
manufacturer. To this end, it has started implementing the 1ISO14001
environmental management system and expects to gain accreditation
by the end of 2009. It aims to become a green enterprise capable of
continuously improving and protecting the environment by running
an operation with contributing to the sustainability of environment
and the society in mind.
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Major impacts of the incident are:

A US$16,000 fine and US$7,713,000 accrued environmental
fee have to be paid and may be paid in two installments in
2008 and 2009. The fine has been paid in October 2008. The
Group paid approximately US$3,865,000 in December 2008,
which was 50% of the discharge fee and will pay the rest in
four installments in 2009.

According to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
the US$7,713,000 fee shall be recognised as a one-off fee
incurred in 2008. As a result, profit of the Group for the
year was substantially squeezed with net profit decreased
from US$14,138,000 to US$6,409,000. The accrued payment
however accounted only for 2.1% of the Group’s asset valued
at US$360,497,000, thus had not posed any material impact
on the Group’s business operation or management.

To comply with environmental protection regulations and
ensure continuous production, the Group ceased some
production and cut down on others, leading to a drop in
production capacity in the fourth quarter. The Group also
activated its emergency supply chain and imported lysine as
raw material for producing MSG. With different environmental
protection improvement plans gradually implemented, the
Group expects production capacity to pick up eventually in the
second quarter of 2009 and full scale production to resume
in the fourth quarter. The Group will be able to maintain
turnover for 2009 at about the same level as in 2008.

Per the damage claims from farmers and fishermen allegedly
affected in the incident, the Group had the cases studied
by lawyers who concluded that the claims had no ground
because the claimants had no operation licences or the claim
period had expired.

Despite that, the Group, acting on good will, has appointed
representatives accompanied by lawyers to communicate with
the complainants in the hope of gaining their understanding
of the its standpoint. The Group will consider addressing
the matter in the form of subsidies so as to maintain good
relationship with the neighboring community as well as
honour its corporate social responsibility.
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Based on general information, the global economic environment will
continue to be difficult in 2009 and dampen consumption. Against
this backdrop and the contracted production of Vedan Vietnam, the
Group expects to face challenges in its operations in 2009. However,
it believes that at the concerted effort of the management and all
staff, the Group hopes to survive through adversities and develop a
more solid foundation for its long term growth. The current difficult
time has actually presented the Group with the chance to review
and improve its operations. In the past, the Group had put its focus
on growing its business, reducing raw material costs and expanding
production presence, however neglected the need to enhance
environmental protection provisions, adjust its organisation structure
and upgrade its distribution system. Thus, the Group will focus on the
following tasks in the coming year:

1. Vedan Vietnam will make improvement in environmental
protection its priority task. The entire staff of the plant will
diligently implement the approved environmental protection
improvement plans with the aim of meeting within the year
the commitment made to the local authority. Also, to optimise
environmental protection work and ensure continuous
improvement, the Group has started its pursuit of 1ISO 14001
environmental management system accreditation and related
staff education and training programmes. It expects to secure
certification by the end of 2009. Its aim is not only to meet
the standards required by local environmental protection
requirements, but to also become an excellent green
manufacturer.

2. From 2009 onwards, foreign enterprises are allowed to
operate trading and retail businesses in Vietnam. Heeding
the move, the Group has set up a dedicated team to recruit
professional sales talents for the Group. The team will also
study and formulate a new distribution model, create new
sales streams riding on existing channels, re-assess distributors
and agents in the existing channel set up so as to strengthen
its operations and boost effectiveness.

3. As for the China operation, the Group will strive to strengthen
its own brands and channels, promote products to second
tier cities and step up management of idle assets. It will also
consider moving the equipment of the compounded starch
plant in Shanghai to Xiamen to stay closer to target markets
and enhance operational efficiency.
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4. Change of external factors has commanded the Group to
defer large scale plantation of the raw material cassava
in Cambodia and Laos. At the same time, the Group also
stepped up efforts in strengthening the raw material supply
channels of agricultural product suppliers in Vietnam and
its strategy in procurement of local raw materials so as to
reduce large capital expenditure amounts. It will set up
business development offices in Cambodia and Laos to boost
promotion in the markets and collect related information.
This will give the Group a solid foundation for business
development as well as raw material procurement in the
future. It will also make promoting procurement of local
cassava a priority at the start, which will be conducive to
building good relationship with local farmers and suppliers,
enabling the Group to gain a better understanding of the
local procurement procedures, regulations and raw material
market. The Ha Tinh plant in Vietnam has commenced
production in the first quarter of 2009 and that will extend
the raw material source of Vedan Vietnam to northern and
central parts of the country. The plant being close to the
border with Laos and with access to an international port, has
strong geographical advantages to exploit.

5. The new expanded solid fertilizer plant will also commence
production by the end of this year. In addition to producing
existing fertilizer products, the Group will also invest in
developing specialised fertilizer to address various needs
of different vegetations and other new fertilizer types. The
Group will also seek to expand the applications of fertilizers.
These efforts are conducive to the development of the
fertilizer and grow the feedstock business into the Group’s
major segment.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had a total of 3,697 employees,
2,836 of whom were employed by subsidiaries in Vietnam, 848 by
subsidiaries in the PRC and 13 by the Taiwan Branch.

The Group’s employees are remunerated in accordance with
prevailing industry practices, and with reference to the financial
performance of the Group and performance of individual employees.
Other fringe benefits such as accommodation, meals, insurance,
medical coverage and provident fund are provided to employees to
ensure staff loyalty and the Group’'s competitiveness. To enhance
human resources quality and the professional skills and management
abilities of employees and build localised workforces, the Group
provides job rotation, internal and external training courses on
professional skills, languages, etc. to employees to help boost their
expertise and knowledge.
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HIGH QUALITY
HIGH-DEMAND
PRODUCTS

At the heart of Vedan International’s business success is a group of core products with
widespread applications and strong brand recognition, one of the Group’s most important
and well-guarded assets. Its renowned “Vedan” brand MSG, for example, is considered
essential throughout the food processing industries across Asia for its role in enhancing
the flavours of a range of foodstuffs, and enjoys a huge and constantly growing market
throughout Vietnam, the PRC, ASEAN countries, Japan and the United States.
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Mr. YANG, Tou-Hsiung, 66, our Chairman. Mr. YANG, Tou-Hsiung
graduated from Taichung Min Der Commercial Vocational High
School. Mr. YANG, Tou-Hsiung has approximately 46 years’ working
experience in the MSG industry and is one of the founders of the
Taiwan Vedan Group. Mr. YANG, Tou-Hsiung is responsible for
formulating our overall corporate strategy. Mr. YANG, Tou-Hsiung is
also a director of Vietnam Vedan and a director of Taiwan Vedan.

Mr. YANG, Cheng, 54, an executive Director. Mr. YANG, Cheng had
approximately 33 years’ working experience in the MSG industry.
Mr. YANG, Cheng is responsible for formulating our business
development strategy. Mr. YANG, Cheng is also a director of Vietnam
Vedan and Taiwan Vedan. Mr. YANG, Cheng is also a member of
Taiwan MSG Manufacturing Association. Mr. Yang holds an EMBA
Degree from Xiamen University in China in 2004.

Mr. YANG, Kun-Hsiang, 51, the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. Mr. YANG, Kun-Hsiang obtained a master degree in
agricultural chemistry in 1986 from Meiji University, Japan. Mr. YANG,
Kun-Hsiang has 20 years’ working experience in the MSG industry
and has been involved in the development of the business operations
of Vietnam Vedan since 1991. During the last 18 years, Mr. YANG,
Kun-Hsiang was involved in the development and management of
Vietnam Vedan. Mr. YANG, Kun-Hsiang is responsible for overseeing
Group's operations and strategic management.

Mr. YANG, Chen-Wen, 45, an executive Director and the director of
Vietnam Vedan. Mr. YANG, Chen-Wen has approximately 12 years’
working experience in the MSG industry. Mr. YANG, Chen-Wen is
responsible for coordinating our purchase activities. Mr. YANG, Chen-
Wen obtained a bachelor degree in mechanics in 1993 from Waseda
University, Japan.

Mr. WANG, Joel J., 67, the Chief Operating Officer of the Company
and the President of Vietnam Vedan. Mr. WANG obtained a master
degree in food science and technology from Massachusetts Institute
of Technology in 1968 and a master of science degree in chemical
engineering from Columbia University in 1971. Mr. WANG s
responsible for managing Group's business operations. Mr. WANG
has approximately 38 years’ working experience. Prior to joining
us in 1991, Mr. WANG worked with Taiwan Vedan where he was
responsible for strategic planning and foreign trade. Mr. WANG
also has approximately 14 years’ experience in product and process
research, production and engineering in food and pharmaceutical
industry in the U.S.
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Mr. HUANG, Ching-Jung, 55, a non-executive Director. Mr. HUANG
is a director of Vietnam Vedan and a vice president of Taiwan
Vedan. Mr. HUANG graduated from the department of accounting
and statistics of the National Taichung Commercial College, Taiwan
in 1974. Mr. HUANG has approximately 31 years’ experience in
administration and finance.

Mr. Chou, Szu-Cheng, 48, a non-executive Director. Mr. Chou is
the Supervisor of Vedan Enterprise Corporation. Mr. Chou was the
director and legal consultant of Wincome Technologies Company
Limited and he has over 16 years of experience in the legal industry.
Mr. Chou obtained his Bachelor of Law degree from Soochow
University, Master of Law degree from East China University and
Doctorate of Law degree from Peking University.

Mr. CHAO, Pei-Hong, 47, an independent non-executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. CHAO obtained a
bachelor degree in law in 1984 and a master degree in law from
Soochow University, Taiwan in 1986 and a master degree in law
from the University of Houston in 1992. Mr. CHAO is an executive
partner of Jurist Law Offices, a law firm in Taiwan. Mr. CHAO has
approximately 16 years’ experience in his practice.

Mr. KO, Jim-Chen, 48, is an Independent Non-executive Director
and member of the Audit Committee of the Group. Mr. Ko has been
the executive partner of Weyong International & Co., Certified Public
Accountants in Taiwan since 2000. He graduated with a Bachelor of
Business Degree from Feng Chia University, Taiwan, and subsequently
obtained a Master of Science Degree in Accounting from the
University of Delaware, USA.

Mr. Chen, Joen-Ray, 49, is an independent non-executive director
and a member of the Audit Committee of the Group. Mr. Chen,
holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from the Eastern
lllinois State University, and a Bachelor Degree from the National
Taiwan University. Mr. Chen is presently the Managing Director of
ImEELTTRBMH AR DA (Ray Wing Research and Investment
Corporation). He has more than 21 years of experience in securities
business in Taiwan and was the Vice Chairman and General Manager
of Yuanta Core Pacific Capital Management Corp. (JT KEHIE &L E
MR AR A E]) , the Chairman of Concord Securities Investment &
Consulting Corp. (EMF#EH IR AR RN AR A A ) and the Senior
Vice President of Concord Securities Corp. (EME SN BRAA]) .
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Mr. HSIEH, Jau-Hwang, 59, our Chief Financial Officer and vice
president of Vietnam Vedan. Mr. HSIEH graduated from the National
Cheng Kung University, major in accounting and finance. Mr. HSIEH
is responsible for the finance functions of the Group. Mr. HSIEH
has approximately 30 years of finance management and banking
experience. Mr. HSIEH worked for several financial institutions in
Taiwan and Vietnam including International Bank of Singapore and
ABN AMRO Bank. Mr. HSIEH was also a general manager of ChinFon
Bank, Ho Chi Minh City Branch. Prior to joining us, Mr. HSIEH worked
as the President in Gia Hen International Co., Ltd.

Mr. LIN, Chien-Pan, 60, the Vice President of Vietham Vedan. Mr.
LIN is responsible for Sales and Marketing operations. Mr. LIN is
also the Vice Chairman of Orsan and is responsible for the business
operations of Orsan. Mr. LIN has 30 years’ experience in the MSG
industry. Mr. LIN joined us in April 1999. Prior to joining us, Mr.
LIN had held various senior management positions with various
companies in Taiwan. Mr. LIN served as the president at Summit Co.,
Ltd., a company engaged in packing materials business from 1996 to
1999 and as vice president of Signesia International Co., Ltd. from
1978 to 1988.

Mr. Yang, Wen-Hu, 48, chairman of Shanghai Vedan and Xiamen
Maotai. Mr Yang graduated from the Finance Faculty of National
Taiwan University and received his Master Degree from Waseda
University in Japan. Mr. Yang held the position of assistant in the
External Trade Department of Taiwan Vedan and had more than 16
years of experience in international trade. Mr. Yang is responsible for
the planning and supervision of the operation strategy of Shanghai
Vedan and Xiamen Maotai.

Mr. YANG, Chang-Keng, 52, president of Shangdong Vedan
Snowflake Enterprise Co., Ltd. Mr YANG graduated from Taichung
Commercial College and is responsible for the overall administration
and operation of Shangdong Vedan Snowflake Enterprise Co.,
Ltd. He has had 15 years of work experience in the MSG and food
additive. Before joining the Group, Mr. YANG, Chang-Keng served
as the manager of the product development department in Tah Hsin
Industrial Corporation and San- Sun Hat & Caps Co., Ltd.
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Mr. YANG, Tung, 38, Vice Chairman and general manager of the
China Region, and Vice President of Shanghai Vedan Enterprise, is
responsible for the company’s financial and administrative work.
Mr. Yang obtained a Master Degree in Business Administration from
the University of Northwest in New York, USA. Mr. Yang joined
Taiwan Vedan in 1995, and had held various positions in Purchasing,
Logistics and administration.

Mr. LIN, Yu, 50, Vice President of Shanghai Vedan Enterprise, is
responsible for sales and marketing planning. A graduate of Taipei
Jianguo Senior High School, Mr. Lin joined Taiwan Vedan in 1989
first as a sales executive, and then was promoted to sales manager.
He started with Shanghai Vedan Foods in 1994, and made it to the
position of Vice President in Sales in June 2004. Mr. Lin has over 25
years of sales management experience in the food industry.

Mr. LO Chi Man, 47, the company secretary of the Company.
He is responsible for the Group’s company secretarial and listing
compliance matters. Mr. Lo is a practising certified public accountant
in Hong Kong, holds a degree of Bachelor of Laws in the Peking
University, the PRC and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lo has over 25 years’ experience in
finance, accounting and company secretarial practice.
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Corporate Governance Report
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Group commits to maintaining and ensuring a high level of
corporate governance standards and continuously reviews and
improves our corporate governance and internal controls practices.
Set out below are the principles of corporate governance as adopted
by the Company during the reporting year.

DISTINCTIVE ROLE OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER (“CEO")

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for leading the Board
of Directors in establishing and monitoring the implementation of
strategies and plans to create values for shareholders.

The CEO is responsible for managing the operation of the Group’s
businesses, proposing strategies to the Board and the effective
implementation of the strategies and policies adopted by the Board.

THE BOARD

As of 31 December 2008, there were ten members on the Board,
which are the Chairman, the CEO, three other Executive Directors,
two Non- Executive Directors (“NED"”) and three Independent Non-
Executive Directors (“INEDs").

The INEDs are considered by the Board to be independent of the
management and free of any relationship that could materially
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgments. The
Board considered that each of the INEDs brings his/her own relevant
expertise to the Board and its deliberations.

None of the INEDs has any business or financial interests with the
Group nor has any relationship with other directors and confirmed
their independence to the Group.

The Board met regularly during the year and on ad hoc basis as
required by business needs. The Board’'s primary purpose is to set
and review the overall strategic development of the Group and to
oversee the achievement of the plans to enhance shareholders’
value. Daily operational decisions are delegated to the Executive
Directors. The Board met five times during the year and the Directors’
attendance is shown in the table on page 37. The NED and INEDs
may take independent professional advice at the Company’s expense
in carrying out their functions.
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The Group has established an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference as suggested under the Code of Best Practice set out
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and adopted with reference to
“A Guide for Effective Audit Committees” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Audit Committee
comprises Mr CHAO, Pei-Hong, Mr KO, Jim-Chen and Mr Chan, Joen-
Ray, all independent non-executive directors. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr Chao, Pei-Hong. Each member brings to the
Committee his valuable experience in reviewing financial statements
and evaluating significant control and financial issues of the Group
who among themselves posses a wealth of management experience
in the accounting profession, commercial and legal sectors. During
the year, the Audit Committee met 3 times.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:—

(i)  to review the half-year and annual financial statements before
they are submitted to the Board for approval;

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on, the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors, and
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal
of that auditors;

(iii)  to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

(iv) to review the Company’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems;

(v)  to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practice;

(vi) to review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit
function; and

(vii) to review the terms and conditions of connected transactions of
the Group.

The Audit Committee reviewed the financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2008 prior to recommending them
to the Board for approval.
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The Company established a remuneration committee in January
2006. Its terms of reference are summarized as follows:

(i)  To make recommendations with respect to the remuneration
of the Executive Directors and the senior management of the
Company for approval by the Board;

(i) To review the remuneration package and recommend salaries,
bonuses, including the incentive awards for Directors and the
senior management; and

(iii)  To administer and make determinations with regard to the
Company's share option scheme.

The remuneration committee annually sets out its recommendation
on the remuneration package of the Executive Directors. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2008, the remuneration committee
has reviewed and recommended to the Board the salaries and
bonuses of the Executive Directors and the senior management.

In order to attract, retain, and motivate executives and key employees
serving for the Group, the Company has adopted a share option
scheme in 2003. Such incentive schemes enable the eligible persons
to obtain an ownership interest in the Company and thus to rewards
to the participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations.

Details of the amount of Directors emoluments are set out in note 30
to the accounts and details of the 2003 Share Option Scheme are set
out in the Report of Director and note 30 to the financial statements.

The Company established the Nomination Committee in April 2008
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
reappointment of Directors, structure, size and composition of the
Board to ensure fair and transparent procedures for the appointment
and reappointment of Directors to the Board. There being no
meetings be held by the nomination committee during the year.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

LOOKING FORWARD

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards
on a timely basis and the Board endeavors to take the necessary
actions to ensure the compliance with the provisions of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices introduced by the Stock Exchange.
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MEETINGS ATTENDANCE L4 Lok
Audit Remuneration
Board Committee Committee
EEg BEREEY FMZEESE
Number of Meetings BBRE (5) (3) (1
Executive directors HITES
Yang, Tou-Hsiung (Chairman) 1SR () 5 N/AZ i 1
Yang, Cheng 15 1F 4 N/AZ i A N/A 35 A
Yang, Kun-Hsiang (CEO) IR (TTRAEZ) 5 3 N/ATT i A
Yang, Chen-Wen 5 R X 5 N/A 38 N/AAN 3
Wang, Joel J. F e 5 1 N/AAS 3
Non-executive director FHITES
Huang, Ching-Jung E - 5 1 N/AAS 3 R
Chou, Szu-cheng ABE 5 N/AT i F3 N/AZ 38
Independent non-executive directors BMYFEHITES
Chao, Pei-Hong WER 5 3 1
Ko, Jim-Chen ] & 18 5 3 1
Chan, Joen-Ray PR A8 I 5 3 1
INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION BiuwER

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, a confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive directors are independent.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF BEST PRACTICE
AND THE CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES OF THE LISTING RULES

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
Code of Best Practice, as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules,
throughout the accounting period covered by the annual report. The
Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“Corporate Governance
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) for the year
2008.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company had adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the code for dealing in securities of the
Company by the directors (the “Code”). Having made specific
enquiry, the Company confirmed that all directors have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Code.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for considering
the appointment of the external auditor and reviewing any non-audit
functions performed by the external auditor. During the year under
review, the Group is required to pay an aggregate of approximately
US$322,000 to the external auditors for their services including audit
and non-audit services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
ACCOUNTS

The Directors’ responsibilities for the accounts and the responsibilities
of the external auditors to the shareholders are set out on pages 52
and 53.
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The directors of the Company (“Directors”) present their report and
the audited accounts for the year ended 31 December, 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the production of fermentation-based
amino acids, food additive products and cassava starch based
industrial products. Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in Note 9 to the accounts.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these
activities during the year under review.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December, 2008 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 57.

An interim dividend of 0.3050 US cents (2.379 HK cents) per share
was declared and paid to the shareholders during the year under
review. The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December, 2008.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 14 to the accounts.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December, 2008, the Company’s share premium reserve of
approximately US$194,098,000 (subject to the Cayman Companies
Law and the articles of association of the Company) and retained
earnings of approximately US$13,733,000 were available for
distribution to the Company’s shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December, 2008, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's shares.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 15 to the accounts.
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Report of the Directors (continued) = F& & (4&)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in Note 7 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for approximately 33% of the Group’s consolidated turnover. In
addition, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 61% of the Group’s consolidated purchases for the
year. Sales to the Group's largest customer and purchases from the
Group's largest supplier accounted for less than 11% and 18% of the
Group's consolidated sales and consolidated purchases respectively.

At no time during the year, did a director, an associate of a director
or any shareholder of the Company, which to the knowledge of
the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital, have an interest in the share capital of any of the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Company.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors
Yang, Tou-Hsiung
Yang, Cheng

Yang, Kun-Hsiang
Yang, Chen-Wen
Wang, Joel J.

Non-executive Directors
Huang, Ching-Jung
Chou, Sze-Cheng

Independent Non-executive Directors
Chao, Pei-Hong

Ko, Jim-Chen

Chen, Joen-Ray

According to Article 87(1) of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Yang, Tou-Hsiung, Mr. Yang, Cheng and Mr. Chao, Pei-Hong will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. All such Directors being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 30 to 33.
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As at 31 December, 2008, the interests and short positions
of each Director and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"),
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies contained in the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Listing Rules”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:—

Name

%A

Mr. YANG, Tou-Hsiung
15 BRI S

Mr. WANG, Joel J.
FERM A

Mr. HUANG, Ching-Jung

Mr. CHAO, Pei-Hong
=R =Ny e

R-ZZNF+-_A=+—H KAQFAE
EEZNBESTHRAERARBHEEM
HEOEE (EERRHMEED (15
NEIERDI]) EXVED) 2 B - AR
REEET  #A @QREES RME R
EXVEBET R 8D A A ® N D Al K&
BMERZMARNR ([BRM]) 2 &
s MRR (BRBREZZENERDEHE
BXEZEWRRRNBEAREA 2R R
) H(b)RERATAE 7 KB %D
FEIS2EMERFE < B RRMAZ #EmE Fo%
B HORBEEBARZMARARRE
FETRA(TETRUD &Sz ETA
RAEFETEFR G ZBETAAMNE R
RE Rz S FORRINT : —

Interests in shares

R Pz S

Percentage of
issued shares

Number of of the Company
ordinary shares HARRATE BT
ZER™E RHABE DL
169,730,196 11.15%
(Note 1)
(BEED)
750,000 0.05%
200,000 0.01%
500,000 0.03%
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Notes:

1. Mr. YANG, Tou-Hsiung’s interest in shares were held in the following
capacities:—
Capacity 54

Interest of company controlled

by him

* Mr. YANG, Tou-Hsiung was entitled to exercise or control
the exercise of more than one-third of the voting power of
King International Limited (“King International”) and King
International is the holder of such 169,730,196 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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On 13 June, 2003, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share
Option Scheme were approved by shareholders under which the
Directors may, at their discretion, offer any employee (including
any executive director of the Company) of the Group, options
to subscribe for shares in the Company subject to the terms and
conditions stipulated in the two schemes.

Options to subscribe for 29,770,000 shares had been granted to the
Directors and employees of the Group on 13 June, 2003 under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. No further options can be, or have
been, granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme from 27 June,
2003, the date of listing of the shares on the Stock Exchange. As at
31 December 2008, there was no share option outstanding under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2008, no option had been granted or exercised
under the Share Option Scheme.

Each of Mr. Yang, Tou-Hsiung, Mr. Yang, Cheng, Mr. Yang, Kun-
Hsiang, Mr. Yang, Chen-Wen and Mr. Wang, Joel J. has entered
into a service agreement with the Company for an initial period of
three years. Such service agreements may continue thereafter unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party following the expiration of the end of the initial term or
at any time thereafter.

Each of Mr. Huang, Ching-Jung and Mr. Chao, Pei-Hong has entered
into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term of
one year. Such service agreements may continue thereafter unless
terminated by one month’s notice in writing served by either party
following the expiration of the end of the initial term or at any time
thereafter.

Mr. Chou, Sze-Cheng has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term commencing on 31 May 2006
("Commencement Date”) and shall continue until the year falling on
the third year from the Commencement Date or the annual general
meeting of the Company to be held in the third year from the
Commencement Date, whichever is earlier or otherwise terminated by
the giving of one month’s notice in writing thereof by either party to
the other.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Mr. Ko, Jim-Chen has not entered into service contract with the
Company, and has no fixed term of service with the Company but
will be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meetings of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company.

Mr Chen, Joen-Ray has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of one year and both parties may upon or before
the expiration of the original term or any renewed term (as the case
may be) thereof, agree in writing to extend the term of the service
contract for another year.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Except for the service contracts detailed above, no director had a
material interest in any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with Taiwan Vedan Enterprise Corporation
(“Taiwan Vedan”)

For the year ended 31 December, 2008, the Company entered into
the following transactions with its substantial shareholder, Taiwan
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Vedan, a connected person of the Company, which constituted 5 &% gi%%ﬁ’\,,\z;#tm%ﬁﬁﬂ E14AE R
continuing connected transactions of the Company subject to the HERAEREZHERE
reporting and announcement requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules:
Note Us$'000
B 5 FET
A.  Sale of goods to Taiwan Vedan A BARERAEEE®R (i) 2,552
B.  Technological support fee paid to Tung B. ﬁ%/i@?"@%l¥ﬂ’i@ﬁﬁﬁ (i) 2,755
Hai Fermentation Industrial Co. Ltd. NEAIRBERAZM

RiT<&E

and Taiwan Vedan
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Notes:

(i)

On 14 December 2005, the Company and Taiwan Vedan entered
into an agreement in respect of the sales of certain GA (acronym as
“glutamic acid”), MSG (acronym as “monosodium glutamate”) and
cassava starchbased industrial products by the Group to Taiwan Vedan
and its subsidiaries (other than members of the Group) (“Taiwan
Vedan Group”) for a term of three years from 1 January 2006 to 31
December 2008 (“Taiwan Sales Agreement”). The parties entered into a
supplemental agreement on 4 January 2007 to increase the cap under
the Taiwan Sales Agreement to the revised cap of US$4,100,000 for
the three financial years ended 31 December 2006, 2007 and 2008.
The Directors believe that the sale of goods to the Taiwan Vedan Group
pursuant to the Taiwan Sales Agreement will generate additional income
to the Group.

As the transactions contemplated under the Taiwan Sales Agreement
were expected to continue after the expiration of its term, the parties
entered into an agreement on 23 December 2008 on substantially the
same terms as the Taiwan Sales Agreement for a term of three years
from 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2011. At the relevant time, the
Company estimated that the annual total aggregate amount of sales of
the products to the Taiwan Vedan Group will not exceed the maximum
cap of US$1,700,000 for each of the three financial years ending 31
December 2011.

On 14 December 2005, the Company and Taiwan Vedan entered into an
agreement in respect of the provision of certain technological support
services by the Taiwan Vedan Group to the Group for a term of three
years from 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2008 (“Technology Support
Agreement”). The parties entered into a supplemental agreement on
4 January 2007 to increase the cap under the Technology Support
Agreement to the revised cap of US$2,800,000 for the three financial
years ended 31 December 2006, 2007 and 2008. The Directors believe
that the technological support from the Taiwan Vedan Group will
benefit the Group's future business developments.

As the transactions contemplated under the Technology Support
Agreement were expected to continue after the expiration of its term,
the parties entered into an agreement on 23 December 2008 on
substantially the same terms as the Technology Support Agreement for
a term of one year from 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2009. At the
relevant time, the Company estimated that the annual total aggregate
amount of service fee payable pursuant to the agreement will be around
or may exceed US$1,700,000 for the financial year ending 31 December
2009. However, it was agreed by the Company and Taiwan Vedan that
the annual total aggregate amount of service fee payable by the Group
shall be subject to a cap of US$1,700,000 as a support extended by
Taiwan Vedan to the Group.
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Apart from the above transactions, for the year ended 31 December
2008, the Company entered into certain transactions with Taiwan
Vedan pursuant to an agency agreement entered into by the parties
on 14 December 2005 (“Agency Agreement”), which were exempted
from all reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Each
of Taiwan Vedan and the Company has been acting as the sole and
exclusive agent of the other party to sell, distribute, supply and/or
provide the products that are produced or proposed to be produced
by the Group from time to time to the customers in Vietnam,
ASEAN countries and the PRC or in Taiwan (as the case may be). The
Directors believe that the Group will continue to benefit from the
transactions as the Group will receive additional commission income,
and, it will also continue to benefit from the transactions in respect
of additional sales to customers in Taiwan which may not be satisfied
by the production capacity of, or the available products from, the
Taiwan Vedan Group.

On 31 December 2008, the parties entered into an agreement
on substantially the same terms as the Agency Agreement for a
term of three years from 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2011.
At the relevant time, the Company estimated that the annual total
aggregate amount of commission to be received by each of the
Group and the Taiwan Vedan Group will not exceed the maximum
cap of US$150,000 and US$80,000 for each of the three financial
years ending 31 December 2011. Such transactions are subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December, 2008, the subsidiaries of the
Company entered into various transactions with Xue Hua, which
constituted continuing connected transactions as defined in the
Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view that such transactions will
provide cost benefits to the Group for its GA and MSG manufacturing
businesses.

On 22 December, 2005, Ordino Investments Pte Ltd (“Ordino”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Xue Hua entered into
a joint venture contract to set up a joint venture company, Shandong
Vedan Snowflake Enterprise Co., Ltd. (“JV Company”) in the PRC.
Upon the establishment of the JV Company, the JV Company
becomes a 70% non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Xue Hua, which holds 30% of the equity interest in the JV Company,
becomes a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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Set out below is a table summarising the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions with Xue Hua as at 31 December 2008
which are subject to the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules:

A. Supply of certain raw materials by Xue Hua
to the JV Company

Notes:

(i) On 28 December, 2005, Ordino, Xue Hua and the JV Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the supply of certain raw materials
("Raw Materials”) by Xue Hua to the JV Company. On 31 December
2006, Xue Hua and the JV Company entered into a supplemental
agreement (the agreement, as supplemented by the supplemental
agreement, will be referred to as the “Raw Materials Purchase
Agreement”) to revise certain terms of the agreement. The Raw
Materials Purchase Agreement was for a term of three years from 28
December 2005 to 27 December 2008.

Under the Raw Materials Purchase Agreement, Xue Hua will
guarantee to the JV Company that in the event of the GA products
produced by the JV Company utilising the Raw Materials reaching
25,000 tonnes per annum, the lower of (a) the average profit
before tax for each tonne of such GA products will be not less than
RMB450; or (b) the annual profit before tax for such GA products
produced will reach RMB11,470,000, and Xue Hua will reimburse
the shortfall to the JV Company, up to a maximum term of 5 years
and an amount of RMB71,420,000 (which includes the service
fees payable by Xue Hua to Ordino under a technology services
agreement) or RMB60,570,000 (which excludes the service fees
payable under such technology services agreement).

Pursuant to the Raw Materials Purchase Agreement, Xue Hua is
entitled to claim reasonable damages from the JV Company in case
of the JV Company sells products to the Group at a price level lower
than the then average selling price available from Xue Hua of a
comparable product.
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As the transactions contemplated under the Raw Materials Purchase
Agreement were expected to continue after the expiration of its term,
Ordino, Xue Hua and the JV Company entered into an agreement on
23 December 2008 to renew the Raw Materials Purchase Agreement
on substantially the same terms and for a term of three years from
28 December 2008 to 27 December 2011 (with the JV Company's
right to renew for a successive term of three years each until the
end of the term of the JV Company subject to compliance with the
relevant requirements under the Listing Rules). At the relevant time,
the Company estimated that the annual total aggregate amount of
the raw materials to be purchased by the JV Company from Xue Hua
will not exceed the maximum cap of RMB200,000,000 for each of
the three financial years ending 31 December 2011.

The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2008 and confirmed that:

(a)  Such transactions were:
(i) entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business;

(i)  conducted on normal commercial terms; which were
no less favourable than those available to or from
independent third parties; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders as a whole;

(b) the aggregate amount for each of the above transactions
has not exceeded the relevant caps disclosed in previous
announcements.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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Bt

Report of the Directors (continued) ZEF 23RS (&)

il

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

So far as was known to any Director or chief executive of the
Company, as at 31 December, 2008, other than the interests and
short positions of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
as disclosed above, the following persons had an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO:

FERREEREMZRE

BENEZERARRRGTBRABMM KT
ENFT_A=F+—B BLEXAEEEEHAN
REAIRBITRABMER AR AT ALR
ARBBRMDIBEROTHEBREZFZLAE
fERBIFEXVERF2 K 390 & 2 IR XA R AR R R
BEoRmgAR  IARRRREEZLAE
RPIFE3BHEMEFES MO ERIAER -

Percentage of
issued shares

of the Company

Name Number of ordinary shares HEATE

=8B EEREE BITROBEDE

Billion Power Limited (“Billion Power") 460,237,609 30.22%
(Note 1)
(PRF3ET)

Taiwan Vedan 460,237,609 30.22%
BIEKS (Note 1)
(KI=ET)

King International Limited 169,730,196 11.15%
("King International”) (Note 2)
(KIzE2)

Concord Worldwide Holdings Limited 127,297,646 8.36%
("Concord Worldwide") (Note 3)
(PF3E3)

High Capital Investments Limited 127,297,646 8.36%
("High Capital”) (Note 4)
(KIE4)
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Notes:

1. Taiwan Vedan is entitled to exercise or control the exercise of more than
one third of the voting power of Billion Power and is therefore taken to
be interested in these 460,237,609 shares held by Billion Power.

2. The capacity of King International in holding the 169,730,196 shares

was as beneficial owner.

3. The capacity of Concord Worldwide in holding the 127,297,646 shares

was as beneficial owner.

4. The capacity of High Capital in holding the 127,297,646 shares was as

beneficial owner.

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors or chief
executives of the Company, as at 31 December 2008, no other
person (not being a Director or chief executives of the Company) had
any interests or short positions in shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange, under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Four Directors of the Company, namely, Messrs. Yang, Tou-Hsiung,
Yang, Cheng, Yang, Kun-Hsiang and Yang, Chen-Wen, were also
directors of the Group’s controlling shareholder, Taiwan Vedan. In
addition, Messrs. Yang, Tou-Hsiung, Yang, Cheng, Yang, Kun-Hsiang
and Yang, Chen-Wen indirectly held approximately 19.77 percent.,
9.89 percent., 6.18 percent., and 8.24 percent. interest in Taiwan
Vedan, respectively and they were therefore considered as having an
interest in Taiwan Vedan under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

The Taiwan Vedan Group is principally engaged in, inter alia, the
production of food additive products, including MSG products, and
beverages in Taiwan, which may compete with the Group’s business
operations in respect of the product portfolio of the Group (“Product
Portfolio”).
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Since Messrs. Yang, Tou-Hsiang and Yang, Cheng are both
responsible only for the overall strategic planning and the business
development of the Taiwan Vedan Group and the Group and the
daily operations of the Group are managed by Messrs. Yang, Kun-
Hsiang, Yang, Chen-Wan and Wang, Joel J. together with an
independent management team, the Directors are of the view that
the management and the operational functions of the Group are
independent of and separate from those of other members of the
Taiwan Vedan Group.

For safeguarding the interests of the Group, the independent non-
executive Directors and the Audit Committee of the Company would
on a regular basis review the business and operational results of the
Group to ensure, inter alia, that the Group's business operations in
respect of the Product Portfolio is and continues to be run on the
basis that it is independent of, and at arm’s length from, that of
Taiwan Vedan.

The accounts have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

By Order of the Board

Yang, Kun-Hsiang
Director and Chief Executive Officer
7 April 2009
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BN 2B AR

PRICEAMATERHOUSE QOPERS

BORKES TSR

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
VEDAN INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vedan
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 54 to 117, which comprise
the consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December
2008, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any person for the content
of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 31 December 2008 and of the Group's profit and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 7 April 2009
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

SeREERAMERX

As at 31 December 2008 —ZEZN\F+_A=+—H

2008 2007
Note Us$'000 Us$'000
B 5% FX5x FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EMEEE
Land use rights 4 Hb {5 A A 6 6,609 6,320
Property, plant and equipment M- BREREE 7 183,672 197,848
Intangible assets EmREE 8 17,540 17,527
Prepayment for property, M- BEREE
plant and equipment EOREERE O] 4,400 =
Held-to-maturity financial assets HEZIEHH
MBS EE 10 3,130 3,295
215,351 224,990
Current assets mBNEE
Trade receivables & W E 5 iR 11 28,878 42,063
Inventories rE 12 72,496 56,170
Amount due from a minority JE s Bt /2B 1 B
shareholder of a subsidiary D EUIR R FRIE 1,370 217
Prepayments and other receivables TEfTFRIE R E A
JE W IR 6,098 6,688
Tax recoverable G Qe aRes 18 6
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEY 13 36,286 17,706
145,146 122,850
Total assets BE®RE 360,497 347,840
EQUITY B
Capital and reserves attributable to RAFIREREA
equity holders of the Company R E AR R
Share capital [N 14 15,228 15,228
Reserves &
— Proposed final dividend —EEARERE 15, 26 - 4,432
- Others —HAt 15 239,803 233,471
255,031 253,131
Minority interest in equity PN 3000
PR R A 2 2,879 4,585
Total equity Em AR 257,910 257,716

The notes on pages 60 to 117 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

HNEOENTENMEIBRARS B RERN—3F1 -

54  vedan International (Holdings) Limited Bk /S EIES (328R) AR A A



Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued) #R&BEAEXR (&)

As at 31 December 2008 —ZEZN\E+—-_A=+—H

2008 2007
Note Us$'000 Us$'000
B 5 FER Fx=T
LIABILITIES a8\
Non-current liabilities EREBE
Long-term bank borrowings REIRITER 17 7,552 15,621
Deferred income tax liabilities REMSHARE 18 9,497 10,544
Long-term payable to a related party ERNBREALTH
KERE 34(d) 5,902 7,688
Provision for long service payment RHRBE & BE 1,133 728
24,084 34,581
Current liabilities mBEE
Trade payables FEFTE ZBRER 16 14,335 13,215
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R H At
JE At R IA 13,660 10,279
Due to related parties JEft B REA LKA 34(d) 2,000 2,006
Bank overdraft — unsecured RITHE T — EIEA - 382
Short-term bank borrowings HMHIRITER 17 38,660 18,969
Current portion of long-term REIRITERN
bank borrowings BV EA &R 17 17 6,940 10,506
Taxation payable FET 18 2,908 186
78,503 55,543
Total liabilities BEERE 102,587 90,124
Total equity and liabilities Hm kB ERRE 360,497 347,840
Net current assets mBEEFE 66,643 67,307
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBDEE 281,994 292,297
YANG, Tou-Hsiung YANG, Kun-Hsiang
B E bk
Director Director
EFE EF

The notes on pages 60 to 117 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance Sheet

BERER

As at 31 December 2008 —ZEZN\F+_A=+—H

2008 2007
Note uss$‘000 US$'00_0
B 5 FEx FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EMEBEE
Investment in subsidiaries, at cost Bl F‘ﬁ%f&ﬁj?ﬁﬁ
(BB 9 170,390 170,390
Long-term loan to a subsidiary BT —FEBRARZ
RHEIE 9 13,200 10,500
Intangible assets mEEE 8 7,455 8,664
191,045 189,554
Current assets MBEE
Due from subsidiaries JiE ST B BB A B 3 IE 9 42,106 51,895
Prepayments and other receivables TE A 38 R H Aty
FE W FRIE 284 341
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBAEEEY 13 8,572 1,087
50,962 53,323
Total assets BERE 242,007 242,877
Capital and reserves attributable to RAFIRERE AR
the equity holders of the Company B K f#E
Share capital PR 14 15,228 15,228
Reserves 15
— Proposed final dividend —EFEARERE 15,26 - 4,432
— Others —HAh 15 207,831 204,487
Total equity HEm AR 223,059 224,147
LIABILITIES =i
Non-current liability ERBEE
Long-term payable to a related party }Eﬁ"ﬁﬁﬁé/\iz
RHEIRKIA 34(d) 5,902 7,688
Current liabilities MBEE
Accruals and other payables FEERREM
FET5RIR 1,547 3,046
Short-term bank borrowings — unsecured ?E'L, RITEE
%&ﬁ 17 9,713 6,291
Due to a related party Fgﬁﬁﬁﬁ + I\ 34(d) 1,786 1,705
13,046 11,042
Total liabilities BERTE 18,948 18,730
Total equity and liabilities BmkBEAE 242,007 242,877
Net current assets mEEEFE 37,916 42,281
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAER 228,961 231,835
YANG, Tou-Hsiung YANG, Kun-Hsiang
B B
Director Director
EFE 2

The notes on pages 60 to 117 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Income Statement

FAa W e

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #HZE—ZTZT/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2008 2007
Note Us$'000 Us$'000
B 5 FER Fx=T
Revenue g %5 19 348,557 317,431
Cost of sales 85 XA 21 (284,048) (256,845)
Gross profit EF 64,509 60,586
Selling and distribution expenses HEMDHEHAX 21 (17,417) (16,907)
Administrative expenses TR 21 (24,333) (20,990)
Environmental charges imposed by R B B R
Vietnam government RIFHEAER 22 (7.729) =
Other (losses)/gains — net Hip (BE) K
—F 8 20 (196) 2,413
Operating profit Fedeeel 14,834 25,102
Finance income B Bl A 2,267 374
Finance costs B (3,639) (4,738)
Finance costs — net BB —FE 23 (1,372) (4,364)
Profit before income tax RETFTBRHAIAF 13,462 20,738
Income tax expense FiEHimAx 24 (7,053) (4,878)
Profit for the year REE AR 25 6,409 15,860
Attributable to: A TRIEE L
— equity holders of the Company —ARTRERAEA 8,403 16,856
— minority interest — DBk R ER (1,994) (996)
6,409 15,860
Earnings per share for profit attributable R F R AR 7 B 4
to the equity holders of the Company BEAREATN
during the year (expressed in US cents G & F|
per share) (A BARENE)
Basic earnings per share BREREF 27 0.55 1.11
Diluted earnings per share FREERT 27 0.55 1.10
Dividends @S 26 4,644 8,422

The notes on pages 60 to 117 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

S A s DL 44
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #HZ_—ZTZNF+-_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AARRESEAER
Share Share  Exchange Merger Retained Minority
capital premium reserve reserve earnings interest Total
DBBRR
BE&  ROEE EXRE  AHEE  REEA B @t

US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000
TET TER TET TER TER TET TER

At 1 January 2007 R=FZ+F—f—H 15,228 47,358 5,196 79,994 92,486 3,722 243,984
Exchange translation differences EXER - - 2,435 - - 299 2,734
Profit/(loss) for the year REERF/ (BR) - - - - 16,856 (996) 15,860

Total recognised income for the year BE-ZZ+F+-A=+—H

ended 31 December 2007 EEEMERANMALE - - 2,435 - 16,856 (697) 18,594
Contribution from a minority —ZHBRARANIBRRLEE
shareholder of a subsidiary - - - - - 1,560 1,560
Dividends RE - = = = (6,422) - (6,422)
- - - - (6,422) 1,560 (4,862)
At 31 December 2007 R-ZTtF+=-A=t—H 15,228 47,358 7,631 79,994 102,920 4,585 257,716
At 1 January 2008 RZZZENF—-A—-H 15,228 47,358 7,631 79,994 102,920 4,585 257,716
Exchange translation differences ER=S - - 2,573 - - 288 2,861
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERH/ (HR) - - = = 8,403 (1,994) 6,409

Total recognised income for the year HZ-FTN\E+-F=1—H

ended 31 December 2008 HEEREBANBALE - = 2,573 = 8,403 (1,706) 9,270
Dividends % 2 - - - - (9,076) - (9,076)
At 31 December 2008 RZZENE+=A=1—-H 15,228 47,358 10,204 79,994 102,247 2,879 257,910

The notes on pages 60 to 117 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

W, \/\EE K7 //lbiig

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #HZE—ZENF+-_A=+—HIFE
2008 2007
Note Us$'000 Us$'000
B 5 FEn FET
Cash flows from operating activities CEEBELEZRERE
Cash generated from operations XBEENES 31 48,904 55,676
Interest paid B FE (1,018) (3,880)
Income taxes paid B ATER (5,390) (4,687)
Net cash generated from operating KEXEBEED
activities e RAFE 42,496 47,109
Cash flows from investing activities BREFHELEZRESRE
Purchase of property, BEWE KEREZHE
plant and equipment 7 (15,093) (12,266)
Long-term prepayment of property, S E JF?XU%& 1%2
plant and equipment KA K (4,400) -
Proceeds from sale of property, ﬁ%%% J’r‘?i)%&
plant and equipment F TS FRIE 31 59 681
Purchase of intangible assets Hﬂ(ﬁﬁ,ﬁiﬁ/ﬁﬁ 8 (1,009) (414)
Interest received from held-to-maturity BFEERE
financial assets MBEEZNE 410 314
Net cash used in investing activities KREFSMAR S FE (20,033) (11,685)
Cash flows from financing activities BMEETHELECRERE
Dividends paid BT S (9,076) (6,422)
Contribution from a minority shareholder > 2{i% 5 ﬁ - 1,560
Net change in short-term bank RHRTEREEFE
borrowings 19,715 (21,851)
New long-term bank borrowings raised it R HAERIT B 3K - 4,792
Repayment of long-term bank BERARITER
borrowings (11,964) (11,163)
Repayment of long-term payable to BB 4 RS R D
Vedan Enterprise Corporation BRAA
(“Taiwan Vedan") (I&é %%Pﬂ )
RHIFER X (2,145) (2,145)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEEMARSFE (3,470) (35,229)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents IR& KIS ZEEY
(and bank overdrafts) (RERTTBE S ) W ANFEE 18,993 195
Cash and cash equivalents R—A—BR&R
(and bank overdrafts) at 1 January REEEY
(RBITER) 17,324 17,282
Exchange losses on cash and ReERREEEBYH
cash equivalents i H 18 (31) (153)
Cash and cash equivalents (and bank R+=—A=+—H®
overdrafts) at 31 December RERREEEY
(RBITEX) 36,286 17,324
Analysis of balance of cash and cash BeMBEEEBYR
equivalents and bank overdrafts RITHE X RO
Bank balances and cash WITHEB LIRS 13 36,286 17,706
Bank overdrafts RITHEX - (382)
36,286 17,324

The notes on pages 60 to 117 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BA 75 R R BT o

GENERAL INFORMATION

Vedan International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) manufacture and sell
fermentation-based food additives, biochemical products and
cassava starch-based industrial products including modified
starch, glucose syrup, Monosodium Glutamate (“MSG"), soda,
acid and beverages. The products are sold to food distributors,
international trading companies, and manufacturers of foods,
paper, textiles, and chemical products in Vietnam, other ASEAN
member countries, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
Japan, Taiwan, and several European countries.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Century
Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, George Town P.O. Box
2681 GT, Grand Cayman, British West Indies.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United
States dollar (US$), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated
financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board
of Directors on 7 April 2009.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"). The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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—RRH

AR (ZR)BERAR (ARE]) R
HBAR (BB AKE)EERHEE
ERBEBERDNNE  HERRAER
WER(BEECTRY BEREEE K
BB REBR) AR -EmNHE
o HORBEER hEARKNE
(TRE]) -BAR - 8ERZERMNERD
RmO R BREHAR UEREM &
BN TEREER -

RARARAESREFMERLZBERA
A aEf 9 B A A - Century Yard,
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, George
Town P.O. Box 2681 GT, Grand Cayman,
British West Indies °

ARBERERMEXHMBRARE —
AT -

BIESFM A e M5 ERAETY
BE-RGEaWBENNR_ZZAFOAL
REEEEHE-

FEEHHREER

RENEFRAVBHRRRBZEEGTHK
REHNMT -FRAZAFNAIN L FHERE
ERERARNMBEEHRFER -

21 mBEE
AEBENKREVBRETDBIEES
WS mEER MRS - 4726 M WmE
TH AR HR FE 52 K AN A8 51 T i 2 o

AT ABTBP B RS EANE B
BERFRERETEENG A
NRABTEREEBERAAREERN
SETBEBIEPIEL A E - £ A
BHREP I RS EH e MREE
Mg REEERRXLMEFTHOHE
TAM REA KR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)
The following new interpretations are mandatory for the
first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2008

IR mAR M ()

FEEHHRER (])

21 mEEE (H)

. Amendments to HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, °
Reclassification of Financial Assets;

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 11, HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury .

Transactions

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 12, Service Concession Arrangements; .

. HK(IFRIC)-Int 14, The Limit on a Defined Benefit .
Assets, Minimum Funding Requirement and their

Interaction

The adoption of these interpretations do not have a
significant impact to the Group's consolidated financial

information.

The following new standards, amendments/revisions to
standards and interpretation have been issued but are not
yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group:

INTHBEBEAR _TZNFE—H
—BRBNMBREE & RER

B G EFEIRREBY
BHEERIETH (BETA) -
MBEENEN SR

BE (AR BRERELRE
) —REFENR FEUB
BERAE2R-SERER
Bt 32 5

R (AR BRERERE
) —REF125% MBEF
B

&5 (EBRVHEHREREZE
®) —REF14% REEA
BERE ZERESERKEW
ZHERAE

FNRSZRBLRYAEBOES
B RREREATE -

ANEE I EIRF RN T EHEME
AR AR FT A RIS T A,
CHEES X

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RT5H

RZEBRIN

EETHBEXR

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2009
EBGRTERE15 (KIB8ET) ISR A 2 W —EZNF-A—H
HKAS 7 (Amendment) Cash Flow Statements 1 January 2009
BB G ERE7HR (BEFTA) BemER —ZEZNF-HF—H
HKAS 16 (Amendment) Property, Plant and Equipment 1 January 2009
BB G ERE 1658 (BFTA) E RNV —EZNF-HA—H
HKAS 19 (Amendment) Employee Benefits 1 January 2009
EBGETERFE195 (BETA) EERET —ETNF—-HA—H

HKAS 20 (Amendment)

BB ST ERIZFE205 (BFIA)
HKAS 23 (Revised)

BB ST ERE235 (LIEE])
HKAS 27 (Amendment)

BB ST ERE275 (BRI A)
HKAS 28 (Amendment)
BB ST ERIFE285F (BFTA)
HKAS 29 (Amendment)

BREEERE295 (BFTA)

Accounting for Government Grants and
Disclosure of Government Assistance

I 478 B B & 51 BE IR I A 4% B O 4% R

Borrowing Costs

EERAR

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

fra RIB B RS Rk

Investments in Associates

N E/NETEE oS =

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary
Economies

BRERREE T ERE

1 January 2009

—EEAF—A—H
1 January 2009
—EENF—-—HA—H
1 January 2009
—ZTZhF—HA—H
1 January 2009
—TZEhF—-—H—H

1 January 2009

2T hF—H—H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

21 mREE(H)

B mA M A (48)

FEEHRRER (])

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

M5 H
R ERBRE
LR LS
HKAS 31 (Amendment) Interest in Joint Venture 1 January 2009
BEBGTERE35E (BETA) aEbERER —EZNF-HA—H
HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 Puttable Financial Instruments and 1 January 2009
(Amendment) Obligations Arising on Liquidation
BB G ERE325 K hESRIARBRRESENEME —EZNF—-H—H
EBGFTERE 15 (BFTA)
HKAS 36 (Amendment) Impairment of Assets 1 January 2009
BB G ERIZE365 (BFTA) BEERME —ZEZNF-HF—H
HKAS 38 (Amendment) Intangible Assets 1 January 2009
ERE G ERE385E (BETA) BIEE —EZNF-HA—H
HKAS 39 (Amendment) Financial Instructions: Recognition and 1 January 2009
Measurement
BB G LR399 (BFTA) TRITA: ERKE —EZNF-HA—H
HKAS 40 (Amendment) Investment Property 1 January 2009
BB G ER F405% (BETA) KEME —EENF—-HA—H
HKAS 41 (Amendment) Agriculture 1 January 2009
BB G ERE5 (BFTA) B¥ —EZNF-H—H
HKFRS 1(Amendment) First-time Adoption of Hong Kong 1 July 2009
Financial Reporting Standards
BEMBHEEAE 1R (BFTAR) BREMEEMBRELD —ZEZNFLHA—H
HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Share-based Payment Vesting Conditions 1 January 2009
and Cancellations
ERMBMEERNE2R (BFIAR) ARG AEBRE RSB M Rt iH —ETZNF—-HA—H
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations 1 July 2009
ERMBMEEREIR (KB tEAN —TENFLA—H
HKFRS 5 (Amendment) Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 1 July 2009
Discontinued Operations
BEMBHEEAFEST (BITAR) HEHENERDEERERIEKLEER —ZEZAFLHA—H
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009
BTGS2 RIFE 85 EEDE —EZNF-HA—H
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2008
58 (BERMBmERBEZEY) BRPEHGE —ZEZN\FE+LH—H

—2EE13%R
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15

BR (ARG RERBZES)
—2EBE15%
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16

BB (BRMEHREREZR
—2EF 169

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

B (BRMEHREREZES)
—REE17HR

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18

5 (BRMBHREREZRE)
—RER18%

8

)

Agreements for the Construction of Real
Estate
P b 2E 32 S 1

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
Operation

BINRIGFREEH H

Distributions of non-cash assets to Owners

AEBADKIFRSEE

Transfers of Assets from Customers

EFHENEAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
related impact of adopting the above new standards,
amendments/revisions to standards and interpretation to
the Group. The directors anticipates that the adoption
of the above new standards, amendments/revisions
to standards and interpretation do not have material
impact to the Group’s principal accounting policies or
presentation of financial statements, except for the
following:

HKAS 1 (Revised), “Presentation of financial statements”.
HKAS 1 (Revised) requires all owner changes in equity
to be presented in a statement of changes in equity. All
comprehensive income is presented in one statement of
comprehensive income or in two statements (a separate
income statement and a statement of comprehensive
income). It requires presenting a statement of financial
position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period in a complete set of financial statements when
there are retrospective adjustments or reclassification
adjustments, however, it does not change the
recognition, measurement or disclosure of specific
transactions and other events required by other HKFRSs.
The Group will apply HKAS 1 (Revised) from 1 January
2009.

HKAS 16 (Amendment), “Property, plant and equipment”
(and consequential amendment to HKAS 7, “Statement
of cash flows"”). Entities whose ordinary activities
comprise renting and subsequently selling assets present
proceeds from the sale of those assets as revenue
and should transfer the carrying amount of the asset
to inventories when the asset becomes held for sale.
A consequential amendment to HKAS 7 states that
cash flows arising from purchase, rental and sale of
those assets are classified as cash flows from operating
activities. The amendment will not have an impact on
the Group’s operations because none of the group
companies’ ordinary activities comprise renting and
subsequently selling assets.

2

IR mAR M ()

FEEHHRER (])
21 REEE(H)

AR B AR SRR LR R
HAMETAR BT REBEAE
BT E - EE AR LA
A EAIMERTAR, R kR BY
AEBEZTESFBRIPBREK
2IMBEBERTE ETIIERIN:

BRGTERE IR (KEFT) (8
BHERWEIH] - BB ERF
B (RIER]) BRB 2 BERERE
SEPNESEHRATUNER
EHMGEABRARE—NEAKRER
FUMDBE (—DEFBRERK
—DEEWAR)ATURER % &
ARE  EETEPARIENIR
HEE AE— DR RFHLERBRE
6 8 e B IS R A 2 A A
IR R REAIT A& KB
HAth 8 B 7% s AT ARE B
ERHHEMEBLZER SFEX
KR -AEEKE-_ZTNF—A—
BERMTEGTENE 1R (K
7)) °

FEEENFE 165 (BFTA) [
X BmERREB] (RHBBE
EAFTRRERER| 2HRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

HKAS 23 (Revised), “Borrowing costs”. The amendment
requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost
of that asset. The option of immediately expensing those
borrowing costs will be removed. The Group will apply
HKAS 23 (Revised) retrospectively from 1 January 2009
but is currently not applicable to the Group as there are
no qualifying assets.

HKAS 27 (Amendment), “Consolidated and separate
financial statements”. The revised standard requires the
effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests
to be recorded in equity if there is no change in control
and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill
or gains and losses. The standard also specifies the
accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest
in the equity is re-measured to fair value and a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss. The Group will apply
HKAS 27 (Revised) prospectively to transactions with non-
controlling interests from 1 January 2010.

HKFRS 3 (Revised), “Business combinations”. The revised
standard continues to apply the acquisition method to
business combinations, with some significant changes.
For example, all payments to purchase a business are to
be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with
contingent payments classified as debt subsequently re-
measured through the consolidated income statement.
There is a choice on an acquisition by acquisition basis
to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. All
acquisition-related costs should be expensed. The Group
will apply HKFRS 3 (Revised) prospectively to all business
combinations from 1 January 2010.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

HKFRS 8, “Operating segments”. HKFRS 8 replaces HKAS
14 and aligns segment reporting with the requirements
of the US standard SFAS 131, “Disclosures about
segments of an enterprise and related information”.
The new standard requires a “management approach”,
under which segment information is presented on the
same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes.
The Group will apply HKFRS 8 from 1 January 2009.
The expected impact is still being assessed in detail by
management, but it appears likely that the number of
reportable segments, as well as the manner in which the
segments are reported, will change in a manner that is
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker.

HKAS 36 (Amendment), “Impairment of assets”. Where
fair value less costs to sell is calculated on the basis of
discounted cash flows, disclosures equivalent to those
for value-in-use calculation should be made. The Group
will apply the HKAS 36 (Amendment) and provide the
required disclosure where applicable for impairment tests
from 1 January 2009.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December.

(a)  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special
purpose entities) over which the Group has the
power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one half of the voting rights. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

The purchase method of accounting is used to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the
Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured at
the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the
date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable
to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of
the extent of any minority interest. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the
Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill (Note 2.6). If the cost of
acquisition is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary in the consolidated
financial statements to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses (Note 2.7). The results of
subsidiaries are accounted by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions
with minority interests as transactions with parties
external to the Group. Disposals to minority
interests result in gains and losses for the Group
that are recorded in the consolidated income
statement. Purchases from minority interests result
in goodwill, being the difference between any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or services that are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those
of other business segments. A geographical segment
is engaged in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment that are subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of segments
operating in other economic environments.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in United States dollar (“US$"),
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents
are presented in the consolidated income within
“finance income or cost”. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated income statement within “other
(losses)/gains” net.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances (continued)

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities are reported as part of the fair
value gain or loss. Translation difference on non-
monetary financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary financial assets such as equities classified
as available-for-sale are included in the available-
for-sale reserve in equity.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

- income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

- all resulting exchange differences are
recognised as a separate component of
equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations are taken to shareholders’ equity. When
a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity
are recognised in the income statement as part of
the gain or loss on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)  Group companies (continued)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, except for construction-
in-progress, are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged in the income
statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

- Properties 20-50 years
- Plant and machinery 10-20 years
- Office equipment and

other fixed assets 5-8 years
- Motor vehicles 5-8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within other (losses)/gains — net, in the
income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Construction-in-progress, comprising capital expenditure
on buildings and plant where the construction work has
not been completed, is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. No depreciation is provided for
construction-in-progress until they are completed and
ready for their intended use.

2.6 Intangible assets
(@)  Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of
an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s
share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary or business at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included
in intangible assets. Goodwill is tested for
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill
are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation
is made to those cash-generating units or groups
of cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose identified according to operating
segment.

(b)  Trademarks, brand names and licences
Separately acquired trademarks and licences
and brand names are shown at historical cost
less impairment. Trademarks and brand names
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of trademarks and brand names over their
estimated useful lives of 6 to 10 years.

(c)  Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 5
years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and non-
financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets

2.8.1. Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: loans and receivables and
held-to-maturity. The classification depends on
the purposes for which the financial assets were
acquired. Management determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(i)  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months
after the balance sheet date. These are
classified as non-current assets. Loans and
receivables are classified as trade and other
receivables (Note 2.10), amount due from a
minority shareholder of a subsidiary, loan to a
subsidiary and amounts due from subsidiaries
in the balance sheet.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Financial assets (continued)
2.8.1. Classification (continued)

(i) Held-to-maturity financial assets
Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturities
that the Group’s management has the
positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. If the Group were to sell other than
an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity
financial assets, the whole category would be
tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale.
Held-to-maturity financial assets are included
in non-current assets, except for those with
maturities less than 12 months from the
balance sheet date, which are classified as
current assets.

2.8.2. Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
assets. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity
financial assets are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. The
Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work-
in-progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

Spare parts and consumables are included within
inventories and stated at cost, using the weighted
average method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10

2.13

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect
all amounts due according to the original terms of
the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency
in payments are considered indicators that the trade
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount
of the assets is reduced through the use of an allowance
account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement within selling and
marketing costs. When a trade receivable is uncollectible,
it is written off against the allowance account for trade
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against selling and marketing
costs in the consolidated income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown in
current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14

2.15

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet
date.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

The current income tax charged on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Company and
its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respects to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if
it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERFzMHizE (4&)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FTESHBFEEE (])
POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Employee benefits 2.16 EEREF
(a)  Pension obligations (a) RIEEMF

The Group participates in a number of defined SERARZ2HZEATHEENRE
contribution plans, the assets of which are generally TR HEE—MRBEBUIER
held in independently administered funds. The EeRHA -AEEMEHEMK
Group's contributions to the defined contribution FTEFH MR EREH -

retirement schemes are expensed as incurred.

(b)  Termination benefits (b) AILHRFE#EZ
Termination benefits are payable when employment EREEEEE FRRIKBH
is terminated by the Group before the normal AIRIEEER SZEEER
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts B Fa & B A #R HR S B8 4@ A1 B -
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these BIFRIS B AL - A&
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits ] £ 7] 3% AR A ea A0 T R T RR AR
when it is demonstrably committed to either: IER R REBE—IHFAD
terminating the employment of current employees FREEIR IR BEREEOER
according to a detailed formal plan without CEBERERAIEE)  EH AR
possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination H—IEE L DASE) B FEE Am
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage REMNKIEREEZ TEE
voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more Hig@BE T @A X NOETR
than 12 months after balance sheet date are ALIR R IR(E -

discounted to present value.

(c)  Bonus plans (c) TEATETE
The Group recognises a liability and an expense REBBE—HBANX (BER
for bonuses based on a formula that takes into A ) AR R FE (s F I 48 8 T 38
consideration the profit attributable to the Big) BEARREERRA
Company'’s shareholders after certain adjustments. X REEREGRNAEIAE
The Group recognises a provision where BRIEEHETEEETRFBER
contractually obliged or where there is a past fHe

practice that has created a constructive obligation.

2.17 Revenue and other income recognition 217 WEREMKARER
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration WaBEEAEBATEEBERS
received or receivable for the sale of goods in the ordinary $HE B Y im YR sk E R B M A T
course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net B2z WmE MBREER RE
of value-added tax, return and discounts and after RHAORBERNEEANT Z HE -

eliminating sales within the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Revenue and other income recognition (continued)
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's
activities as described below. The amount of revenue
is not considered to be reliably measurable until all
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved.
The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking
into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a)  Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a Group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has accepted that products and full
discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products.

Sales are recorded based on the price specified in
the sales contracts, net of returns at the time of
sale and sales rebates.

(b)  Sales of electricity
Sale of electricity is recognised based on units of
electricity sold as recorded by meters during the
year.

(c) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being
the estimated future cash flow discounted at the
original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired loans is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

(d)  Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18

2.19

2.20

Leases (as the lessee for operating leases)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors
wherever appropriate. Dividend proposed or declared
after the balance sheet date are disclosed as a post
balance sheet event and are not recognised as a liability
at the balance sheet date.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts under which the Group
accepts significant risk from a third party by agreeing to
compensate that party on the occurrence of a specified
uncertain future event are accounted for in a manner
similar to insurance contracts. Provisions are recognised
when it is probable that the Group has obligations under
such guarantees and an outflow of economic resources
will be required to settle the obligations.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including currency risk and fair value
and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance.

Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to Vietnam Dong against US$. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations.
The Group has not hedged its foreign
exchange rate risk.

(a)

IR mAR M ()
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (continued)

(i)  Foreign exchange risk (continued)
At 31 December 2008, if Vietnam Dong had
weakened/strengthened by 1% against the
US$ with all other variable held constant,
post-tax profit for the year would have been
Us$237,000 (2007: US$220,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
losses/gains on translation of Vietnam Dong-
denominated trade receivables, cash and bank
balances and trade payables.

(i)  Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets apart from bank balances, the
Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-
rate risk. The Group has not hedged its cash
flow interest-rate risk.

At 31 December 2008, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year would have been
Us$243,000 (2007: US$288,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from bank balances, trade
receivables, amount due from a minority
shareholder of a subsidiary, other receivables as well
as held to maturity financial assets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales of products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. The Group has policies to
assess the credit quality of the customer, taking into
account its financial position, past experience and
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on
internal or external ratings. The utilisation of credit
limit is regularly monitored.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

The carrying amount of trade receivables, amount
due from a minority shareholder of a subsidiary,
prepayments and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents included in the consolidated
balance sheets represents the Group's maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to these financial
assets.

For bank balances, the Group only uses banks and
financial institutions with good reputation. As at 31
December 2007 and 2008, all the bank balances
as detailed in note 13 are held in major financial
institutions, which are either stated owned or with
high credit quality. Management believes that the
credit risk for bank deposits and bank balances to
be minimal.

For held to maturity financial assets, the Group’s
only investment is the bond issued by Dong Nai
Province Peoples Committee of Vietnam, which is a
government department. Management believes that
the credit risk for this balance to be minimal.

As at 31 December 2007 and 2008, the amount
due from a minority shareholder of a subsidiary is
neither past due nor impaired. Given that all the
balance is within credit period, management are of
opinion that receivables from a minority shareholder
of a subsidiary is of low credit risk.

No impairment has been provided for other
receivables as at 31 December 2007 and 2008.
Other receivables do not contain impaired assets.
Management are of opinion that these balances are
of low credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group’s
business, the Group ensures that it maintains
sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity
requirements.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group's liquidity reserve which comprises undrawn
borrowing facilities and cash and cash equivalents
(Note 13) on the basis of expected cash flows. The
Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MERBER ()
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 UHEREE (E)

THRBIZEEBEZANIIHA K
THEIMAKRERARBRIER
AR M B RE - RRBPEE
ZERRABWATRACRE -

The table below analyses the Group’s and the Company’s
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Between Between
Less than 1and 2 2and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years
—-fR -5EME WEELEF BBLE
Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
TEx TER TET TEx
Group N
At 31 December 2008 RZZEZNF+-A=+—H
Bank borrowings BITEE 48,482 8,006 = =
Trade payables EHE SRR 14,335 = = =
Long-term payable to ENEBEEALZ
a related party REHE 2,145 2,145 4,311 =
Other payables H o fE 1T 5008 10,156 = = =
Due to related parties R BmBEALHE 214 = = =
At 31 December 2007 R-ZZLE+-A=+—-H
Bank borrowings ROTER 32,255 8,103 9,116 =
Bank overdraft RITEX 382 - - -
Trade payables ERE SRR 13,215 - - -
Long-term payable to ENEBEEALZ
a related party REHE 2,145 2,145 6,435 22
Other payables H o fE 1T 508 5,671 = = =
Due to related parties ENEBEALHE 301 = = =
Company NN
At 31 December 2008 R-EENF+-A=+—H
Bank borrowings RITER 10,216 = = =
Long-term payable to EREBEALTZ
a related party REFE 2,145 2,145 4,311 =
At 31 December 2007 RZET+E+-A=1+—H
Bank borrowings RITER 6,582 - - -
Long-term payable to ENEHEEALZ
a related party REHE 2,145 2,145 6,435 22
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERFzMHizE (4&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREER(§)
3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 FERKBER
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to AEBEEESZHERRERE
safeqguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going EFELE  UARREREFREA
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders A NT RN A RERE#E
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an ZEBREEBNR D BEARKAR 2L

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, BT RABRERNERE  AEET
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to BEARRNTRRECKRESRE MR
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new RBBEEANBEITHRMD -
shares.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing AEBEREEABLEXEEERE
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided ReZUEWMGEEAEABRAT
by equity holders’ equity as shown in the consolidated IR BRERR AR IFE AT
balance sheet. Total borrowings include non-current HoBERBEERBERZRENE
borrowings and current borrowings. e
During 2008, the Group's strategy, which was unchanged RZZBENG AEEZKREE-T
from 2007, was to maintain a minimal gearing ratio. The TLFEMRNEER— ?5( TR &
gearing ratios at 31 December 2007 and 2008 were as ERRLERZEKT RZZTTt
follows: FRZZZENF+TZA=+T—HZ
BEEBGBLENT:
Group
rEH
2008 2007
Us$°000 Us$'000
FTER FxET
Total borrowings (note 17) BER (HEE17) 53,152 45,096
Equity holders’ equity ERFEAEAZER 257,910 257,716
Gearing ratio BEARBLX 21% 17%
Management considers that the current gearing ratio is ERER Efﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ttx/’%‘\
reasonable. The increase in the gearing ratio during 2008 By -BEABLER_ZZTN\FHE
resulted primarily from increase in bank borrowings. MEZHRPRITEFRILGM -
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 A¥EME
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade AEBBRERWE HERRERMNE
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate SERZERBERAEREEER
their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for HERAFE-HEEeREELAT
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future B DEAEERECRTARRD
contractual cash flows at the current market interest MISAMERBRERREHNRESREM
rate that is available to the Group for similar financial (EER
instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets or liabilities are discussed below.

(a)  Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment, in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 2.7. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates.

(b)  Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, land use rights and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment, land use right
and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts of property,
plant and equipment have been determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
and valuations require the use of judgement and
estimates.

During the year, management made US$1,530,000
and US$624,000 provision on its property, plant
and equipment in Shandong and Vietnam,
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, land use rights and intangible assets
(continued)

Due to the increasing production costs,
management had temporarily closed its production
plant in Shandong for re-negotiation of material
and utilities costs with certain suppliers. A
provision was made based on a five-year cash flow
forecast prepared by management for respective
property, plant and equipment. The recoverable
amount of the property, plant and equipment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations use post-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period. The
discount rate used in the cash flow forecast is 10%.

Management prepared the five-year cash flow
forecast for the production plant in Shandong
based on an assumption that the production plant
in Shandong will resume its operation in this year.
If the re-start date of the operations had been
postponed for 3 months with all other variables
held constant, post-tax profit for the year would
have been approximately US$1,100,000 lower.

Environmental charges

The environmental charges are calculated based
on the amounts imposed by the government. For
details, please refer to Note 22 of the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Useftul lives of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

The Group’'s management determines the
estimated useful lives and related depreciation and
amortisation charges for its property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets with reference to
the estimated periods that the Group intends to
derive future economic benefits from use of these
assets. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets of similar
nature and functions. Management will adjust
the depreciation and amortisation charges where
useful lives are vary with previously estimated.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in useful lives and therefore depreciation and
amortisation expense in the future periods.

Current income taxes and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC,
Vietnam and Taiwan. Significant judgement is
required in determining the amount of the provision
for taxation. There are transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the periods in
which such determination are made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognised
as management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred taxation assets and taxation
in the periods in which such estimate is changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERFzMHizE (4&)

5 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS 5 DEHH
Segment information is presented in respect of the Group's DEERAREB W EB RIS FmE
business and geographical segments. Business segment WM-EBOBEREREZEZHREA R
information is chosen as the primary reporting format because EAEREB D EEAREEL S R BRE
this is more relevant to the Group in making operating and ok =Nz RN
financial decisions.
(a) Business segment (a) X%
The Group has been operating in one single business REEKEE %515 RERKES
segment, i.e. the manufacture and sale of fermentation- ZIEETE R MANING -« ELER K&K
based food additives, biochemical products and cassava ZRVES BREIRYD B8R
starch-based industrial products including modified MEAE - ORAE - BRIT - EEPE R ARKL o
starch, glucose syrup, MSG, soda, acid and beverages. b WEEFRHB|ER -
Accordingly, no segment information is presented.
(b) Geographical segment (b) HIEHIR
In presenting information on the basis of geographical LA IR 53 3 2 & KL - 5 3Pk as IA
segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical BEFEMEmEE D - HHEERER
presence of customers. Segment assets and capital X BIABEEMEMES
expenditures are based on the geographical location of
the assets.
(i) Segment revenue ()  DEME
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FEr Fx=T
Vietnam 5 148,860 159,290
The PRC # 57,229 52,047
Japan =[N 73,523 47,492
Taiwan B 10,881 9,264
ASEAN member countries RABRR (TEEERAE)
(other than Vietnam) 36,956 34,794
Other regions H i [2 21,108 14,544
348,557 317,431
(i) Capital expenditures (i) EAXZH
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FEr Fx=T
Vietnam 5 15,227 9,870
The PRC # 875 2,810
16,102 12,680
Capital expenditures are allocated based on where BARZHTIRBEEEMEHMm
the assets are located. 2B e
Capital expenditures comprise additions of land BEARAYHEES T ERE
use rights, property, plant and equipment and ME- -BEREEREVLEE
intangible assets, including additions resulting from BAE BIERBEKEHE
acquisitions through business combinations. THEBNRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAFSERFzMizT (4&)

5 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued) 5 DT (E)
(b) Geographical segment (continued) (b) HEH I (4F)
(iii)  Total assets (i)  AEEE
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FEr FET
Vietnam 5 280,299 280,961
The PRC i 71,255 65,139
Hong Kong B 8,448 550
Taiwan =0 431 1,126
Singapore N3 64 64
360,497 347,840
Total assets are allocated based on where the assets REEDRBEEMTHMm S
are located. fic o
6 LAND USE RIGHTS - GROUP 6 ITHERAE-FTEE
The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid REBER T FERAENERIESEHON
operating lease payments and their net book values are TEHER HEEFEITHOT

analysed as follows:

2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FEx FE=T
Held outside Hong Kong EBBAINFE
Leases of between 10 to 50 years HMAOB+EERTF 6,609 6,320
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FX5x FET
Beginning of the year F4 6,320 6,038
Exchange difference N Z5 434 417
Amortisation of prepaid operating EERDEHSE R e #
lease payment (145) (135)
End of the year F 4R 6,609 6,320
In respect of the Group's land use rights, Mao Tai Foods RASEN THERENS  ZFARFE
(Xiamen) Co. Ltd (“Xiamen Maotai”), Shanghai Vedan B G ERMBAREERR (EF) A
Enterprise Co. Ltd (“Shanghai Vedan”) and Shandong Vedan Al ([EFXE]) EBRSEEFR
Snowflake Enterprise Co., Ltd. (“Shandong Snowflake”), AR(TEERNDRLRSEEEEGR
subsidiaries established and operating in the PRC, have been AR ([WWESE]) BEEEEERETA
granted the rights to use the land by the relevant authority for BATFEN I HERE 2R -_ZTM=
50 years, which expires in 2042, 2055 and 2056 respectively. F _ERAFR_TRNFEme
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERFzMHizE (4&)

7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7 ME - BERBG
Office
equipment
and other
fixed assets
Construction Plant and Motor  HWAERME
in progress Properties machinery vehicles REM Total
HRIR ¥ BERER AE EEEE Eh

UsD'000 USD'000 USD'000 UsD'000 UsD'000 UsD'000
TXR TXR TXR FET FET TXR

At 1 January 2007 R=ZZ+F-A-A

Cost AR 996 81,593 343,495 8,069 32,687 466,840
Accumulated depreciation ZBME = (32,308) (189,219) (6,307) (27,318) (255,152)
Net book amount EEHFE 99 49,285 154,276 1,762 5,369 211,688

Year ended 31 December 2007 BEZ-ZZtF

TZRAZ+-BLEE

Opening net book amount FNEEFE 996 49,285 154,276 1,762 5,369 211,688
Exchange differences ERESE 8 704 1,260 27 23 2,022
Additions RE 9,365 278 1,751 814 58 12,266
Transfer BE (2,752) 745 1,881 - 126 -
Disposals HE = O (28) (27) (22) (78)
Depreciation e - (3,894) (22,802) (523) (831) (28,050)
Closing net book amount FRE@DFE 7,617 47,117 136,338 2,053 4,723 197,848
At 31 December 2007 RZBZtF+=A=+-H

Cost A 7,617 83,127 347,239 8,518 30,621 477,122
Accumulated depreciation ZENE - (36,010) (210,901) (6,465) (25,898) (279,274)
Net book amount REFE 7,617 47,117 136,338 2,053 4,723 197,848

Year ended 31 December 2008 BZ-ZI)\F

TZAZ+-BHLEE

Opening net book amount FHNEREFE 7,617 47,117 136,338 2,053 4,723 197,848
Exchange differences EREE 7 780 1,436 36 27 2,286
Additions wNE 13,994 67 473 336 223 15,093
Transfer BE (8,551) 3,901 4,543 31 76 -
Disposals HE = ) (12) (54) (26) (94)
Depreciation & - (4,129) (23,784) (510) (884) (29,307)
Impairment loss REBSE - (141) (2,009) - (4) (2,154)
Closing net book amount FRE@FE 13,067 47,593 116,985 1,892 4,135 183,672
At 31 December 2008 RZZBENF+ZA=1+—-H

Cost A 13,067 88,002 354,138 8,543 30,886 494,636
Accumulated depreciation ZRME = (40,268) (235,144) (6,651) (26,747) (308,810)
Impairment loss REEE - (141) (2,009) - (4) (2,154)
Net book amount REFE 13,067 47,593 116,985 1,892 4,135 183,672
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 7

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group are
pledged as securities for the Group’s short-term and long-term
bank borrowings as follows:

Mk -BERRM (&)
AEEAETYE  BELRBIERIR - A
MEASENEHRRHRITEENT

2008 2007
Us$'000 uUs$'000
FEx FET
Net book value of pledged property, EEBYE -BE RZE
plant and equipment (Note 35) SR FE (MI5E35) 19,315 25,417

Depreciation expense of US$27,868,000 (2007:
US$27,648,000) has been charged in cost of sales, US$50,000
(2007: US$40,000) in selling and distribution expenses and
US$1,389,000 (2007: US$362,000) in administrative expenses.

T8 L 127,868,000 7T (ZBE £
27,648,000% 7T ) 50,0005 7T (= TF+
£ : 40,0003 7T ) F11,389,000% T (=&
T4 362,000 7T) E R EHE KA - 88
ERDHEAT A RITERA R0 -

8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8 EEHE
Group Company
X&EE ANH
Software
Goodwill  and licence Brand name  Trademarks Total  Trademarks
BE BHERER i 513 A&t 51
usD'000 usD'000 usD’'000 UsD'000 UsD'000 usD'000

Txr Txn TEn TEx TEx FET

At 1 January 2007 R-ZEB+E—A—A 7,026 o 1,028 9,873 18,127 9,873
Additions wNE - 414 - = 414 =
Exchange differences ERZE 448 - - - 448 -
Amortisation for the year FREH = (139) (114) (1,209) (1,462) (1,209)
At 31 December 2007 RZZET+F+ZA=1+—H 7,674 275 914 8,664 17,527 8,664
At 1 January 2008 RZZEN§—A—H 7,674 275 914 8,664 17,527 8,664
Additions NE = 1,009 - - 1,009 -
Exchange differences ERER 478 - - - 478 -
Amortisation for the year FREH - (151) (114) (1,209) (1,474) (1,209)
At 31 December 2008 RZZEN\F+ZA=+—-H 8,152 1,133 800 7,455 17,540 7,455

Amortisation charge is included in administrative expenses.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's cash-generating units
(“CGUs") identified according to country of operation and
business segment.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERFzMHizE (4&)

8 |IEWE(M|)
B R E R
AEBRARKEERERRREHER &
Prashl ez REVR @ B DR EHE -

The PRC Vietnam
FE A=
MSG

packaging MSG
TR R packaging Total
R R IR B &5t
US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
FET FET FET
At 31 December 2008 —EENF+=-—A=+—H 7,422 730 8,152
At 31 December 2007 —EEtF+=-A=+—H 6,944 730 7,674

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations use five-year
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management. Cash flows beyond the budget period are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations

WEBReBMZ AR BN REAEER
E-REEENEEEHRE VTR
HEMAReREETRAN -BHEEHZ
RenE8FERATIGERRER-

RUGTEEREEZEEZRR:

2008 2007

Gross margin E R =
Discount rate IR xR

13.7% - 17.8% 13.3% - 14.4%
10% 10.4%

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each
CGU within the business segment.

Management determined budgeted gross margin based on past
performance and its expectations for the market development.
The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant segments.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amounts of
goodwill is based would not cause the carrying amounts to
exceed its recoverable amounts.

ZEBRANDIMEZ D BASRIER S

E\”

ERENRBEBAEFREREETHERZ
BHMEBEREENE - FAAFTREXTIH
AIETE W RRARE D B2 B E AR

EEERE mENATKRESERREN
TERENTMAEAEEH TS ERE
E{EBEEAKESE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

9 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, LOANS TO 9
SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM
SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY

B BmA M A (48)

HMBARARBE MMELFERR
BEHELATRR-EL2F

2008 2007

uUss$‘000 uUs$'000

FEx FET

Unlisted shares, at cost IE LMD (RAA) 170,390 170,390

The loan-term loan granted to a subsidiary is unsecured,
interest-free for the period from 1 August 2007 to 31
December 2008 and interest will be charged at Singapore
Interbank Offered Rate for the period from 1 January 2009 to
31 July 2010, the date of maturity. The carrying value of loan to
a subsidiary approximates its fair value.

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2008:

Place/country of

BTy —HNBARZRBMERDEER -
RZZBEZLFNA-—HEZZZNF+=
A=Z+—BHRARE RR-_ZTAF—
A—BRBE-_Z-ZFLA=1+—0H (3
H) B & R RIT R/ B KR -
A—EHEARER ERERIEAF
o

RUMBARRALSEER L2 S AR
EHREE-

THAR-ZEN\F+-A=+—AME
EHBEAT:

Particulars of

Incorporation/ Issued/
establishment Principal activities and paid up capital Interest
Name B3t T place of operation BET/HR held
=1 BRIt ER TEXBREELY BRAF 1B REER
Directly held:
ERHE
Winball Investment Limited British Virgin Islands  Investment holding in Hong Kong us$100 100%
("BVI") EEBIREER Ordinary shares
HBRZES 100E T & B
Talent Top Investment Ltd. BVI Investment holding in Hong Kong Us$100 100%
RBRELHES EEBREER Ordinary shares
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERFzMHizE (4&)

9 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, LOANS TO 9 HHELFARR RAMEBEATFHERR
SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM BRMEATRE-—FLT (&)
SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY (continued)

Place/country of Particulars of
Incorporation/ Issued/
establishment Principal activities and paid up capital Interest
Name FMRL place of operation BET/HR held
£ RIS ER TEEBREELY PR3 15 FEER
Indirectly held:
BEFE
Burghley Enterprise Pte., Ltd. Singapore Investment holding in Singapore $$106,067,921 100%
GBS TERT IR B 2 AR Ordinary shares
106,067,92 157 M3
TE R
Ordino Investments Pte., Ltd. Singapore Investment holding in Singapore $$34,944,929 100%
N TR IR B 2R Ordinary shares
34,944,92937 3% T
Vedan (Vietnam) Enterprise Vietnam Manufacture and sale of US$120,962,000 100%
Corporation Limited HiFg fermentation-based food Legal capital
KA (E) R ERL A additives and biochemical 120,962,0003 7T
products and cassava starch- EERA
based industrial products
including MSG, GA, modified
starch, glucose syrup, soda and
acid in Vietnam and for export
EHARERHERM R INE
EERRAERDIXER:
BERE 2K CIRY
BERE T RERYHEE LD
Mao Tai Foods (Xiamen) PRC Packaging and sale of MSG and US$20,270,000 100%
Co., Ltd. H beverages in the PRC Registered capital
ERRm (EM)ARAF EREBEKEERERKE 20,270,000 7T
& A
Orsan Vietnam Co., Ltd. Vietnam Packaging and sale of MSG US$1,838,282 100%
=] in Vietnam Legal capital
EHRBRRHEERR 1,838,282% T
EERA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

9 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, LOANS TO 9 HEARRE MELATERRE
SUBSIDIARIES AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM BEMEBARRE-—FAF (&)
SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY (continued)

Place/country of Particulars of
Incorporation/ Issued/
establishment Principal activities and paid up capital Interest
Name FMRL place of operation BET/HR held
% RIS ER TEEBREELY PR3 1B REER
Indirectly held: (continued)
EERE (&)
Shandong Vedan Snowflake PRC Manufacture and sale of MSG US$17,200,000 70%
Enterprise Co., Ltd. a2 in the PRC Registered capital
LWREEEXERARA EREEERHEERE 17,200,000 7T
(MUESTE]) Rl N
Shanghai Vedan Enterprise PRC Packaging and sale of MSG US$9,800,000 100%
Co. Ltd. H in the PRC Registered capital
LERAEEER A ERREERRHEERE 9,800,000 7T
B A
Veyu Enterprise Co., Ltd. Vietnam Manufacture and sale of cassava US$2,300,000 100%
HiFg starch-based industrial products Legal capital
in Vietnam and for export 2,300,000 T
EHAREREERZRNIE EERA
EmiiEE LD
Xiamen Darong Import & PRC Trading of cassava starch-based US$254,000 100%
Export Trade Co., Ltd. H industrial products in the PRC Registered capital
EFARSEHNESHRAA EFEEEAERNIEER 254,000 T+ R
BR
10 HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS - GROUP 10 RBEEIHNMBEEE-—ZXEHE

B BmA M A (48)

FAEZINH Y% EEBEDong Nai
Province People’s Committee of Vietnam
RZETRAF=A=+THBEH I AFEE
&% - ZEFFFRRFAE8E  WHRAF
HA o B B [0 o

Included in held-to-maturity financial assets is a 5-year
construction bond issued by Dong Nai Province People’s
Committee of Vietnam on 30 March 2005. The bond earns
annual interest of 8% and is redeemable at the end of the
5-year term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERFzMHizE (4&)

11 TRADE RECEIVABLES 11 BERBZER
The fair values of trade receivables are as follows: EWRE SERNAFERAT
Group
rEE
2008 2007
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FE7x
Trade receivables from third parties FBUWE=ZFESER 28,985 41,755
Trade receivables from a related party FEUWHERBEEALTESERX
(Note 34(c)) (PR 5E34(0) ) 320 339
Less: provision for impairment of trade B EIE R
receivables NERIEEE i (427) (31
28,878 42,063
The credit terms of trade receivables range from cash on EWESEFNEERRESNIRE120
delivery to 120 days and the ageing analysis of the trade R MEWE ZERHERIITAT
receivables is as follows:
Group
TEE
2008 2007
us$’000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Current BN HER 13,967 22,838
30-90 days 30F90K 8,083 18,890
91-180 days 91E 180K 4,471 242
181-365 days 181E 365K 2,707 31
Over 365 days 365K A = 77 93
29,305 42,094
As at 31 December 2008, trade receivables of US$19,081,000 RZZETZNF+_A=+—HB EKE
(2007: US$38,331,000) were fully performing. 2 BE319,081,000 (L (Z T E L F ¢

38,331,000%7T) E 28 /ETT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

11 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2008, trade receivables of US$9,791,000
(2007: US$3,701,000) were past due but not impaired. These
relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is
no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of those past
due but not impaired receivables is as follows:

B BmA M A (48)

11

BB ZER (&)
R-TZZENF+_A=+—"H £58E5
9,791,000% T (ZEZ+ 4 :3,701,000
EL)MERE S ERERE D BE IR
B ERBETIHASEER SN E T
B o 5% 5 B ARME N0 R R E &Y FE R IE Y
BRER AT ¢

Group

TEE
2008 2007
us$’'000 Us$'000
FEx FEx

Overdue by %0 HA

Current to 3 months BNERZ= =& A 3,302 3,656
3 - 6 months =@ER=E~MEA 4,063 45
Over 6 months NER M E 2,426 -
9,791 3,701

As of 31 December 2008, trade receivables of US$433,000
(2007: US$62,000) were impaired. The amount of the
provision was US$427,000 as of 31 December 2008 (2007:
US$31,000). The individually impaired receivables mainly relate
to wholesalers, which are in unexpectedly difficult economic
situations. It was assessed that a portion of the receivables is
expected to be recovered. The ageing of these receivables is as
follows:

R-ZEENF+_A=1+—H EBKES
BRF433,0003% 7T (—ZTZ+4F :62,000%
TTIEFRE R_EENF+_A=1+—
B MBS 5 B427,000% T (ZBF
+4F : 31,0007t ) © 8RR E K FE U EIE
FEHERERECERENHEDS
B T EB o FE M SR IE B RS A TEH S T R
B o Z 5 REUGRIBRN RIS T

Group

rEH
2008 2007
Us$°000 Us$'000
FER FET

Overdue by %0 Hi

180 days to 360 days 180K Z360K 379 -
Over 360 days 360K £ 54 62
433 62
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERFzMHizE (4&)

11 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 11 BRBHERE® (&)
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables are REERERE ZEFOREENLTIE
denominated in the following currencies: B EHE
Group
AEH
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
TEx FET
Vietnam Dong A 16,216 26,109
us$ = 10,284 11,731
PRC Renminbi REARE 2,347 4,194
Others Hth 31 29
28,878 42,063

AEENEKEZRARERBEEDN

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows: Ik

Group

AEE
2008 2007
Us$°000 Us$'000
TEx FET
Beginning of the year F1 31 29
Provision for impairment BERE 398 12
Reversal of provision for impairment PERER L () (10)
End of the year FR 427 31

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables {E R AEBR E W BR SR B R B E T ALRE
have been included in “administrative expenses” in the Wax R H [1THRAZ R (KHEE21) o 5F A
consolidated income statement (Note 21). Amounts charged to BERNSE RN EREZKDEEING
the allowance account are generally written off when there is calisdi§is K

no expectation of recovering additional cash.

12 INVENTORIES - GROUP 12 #&®
2008 2007
USs$'000 Us$'000
FTEn FET
Spare parts and consumables THRIEFEm 4,091 3,967
Raw materials R 40,794 24,602
Work in progress T & 2,709 3,818
Finished products BURK i 24,902 23,783
72,496 56,170
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERFzMiE (&)

13 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - GROUP AND 13 BeRBEFED-—FTEKERKAF
COMPANY
Bank balances totaling US$10,931,000 (2007: US$4,739,000) RZZEZENFF+_A=+—H R17#
and US$16,764,000 (2007: US$11,860,000) as at 31 December #2 & #£10,931,000E T (Z T+ &
2008 were placed with major state-owned financial institutions 4,739,000% 7T ) }16,764,000% 7T ( =&
in PRC and Vietnam, respectively. The remittance of these T+ :11,860,000% 7T) / B 1F A EY
funds out of the PRC and Vietnam is subject to the exchange RO EEREVBHE  ZSEE
restrictions imposed by the PRC and Vietnamese governments. o AR B K i R 7B 3 ST R B K 8RS BT B9 1

PE B B 1 o

Group Company
rE AN
2008 2007 2008 2007

Us$°000 US$'000 US$’'000 Us$'000
TER FTET FTXR FTET

Cash at bank and on hand  $R{TREFRE 31,384 17,260 8,572 1,087
Short-term bank deposits RHRITER (M)
(Note) 4,902 446 - =
36,286 17,706 8,572 1,087
Note: Bt 5
Certain short-term bank deposits were pledged for certain banking B TRERTFREEMARGE TRTHE -
facilities.
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the AEBEReRBSSEMRUATER.R
following currencies: (R
Group Company
rEE NN
2008 2007 2008 2007

Us$'000 US$'000 Us$’'000 Us$'000
TER FTXT TR FTXT

Vietnam Dong MR A 12,721 6,470 - =
uss$ =TT 12,618 6,394 8,458 983
PRC Renminbi FEARE 10,833 4,738 - -
Hong Kong dollar BT 49 40 49 40
New Taiwan dollar e 65 64 65 64

36,286 17,706 8,572 1,087
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

14 SHARE CAPITAL

B mAMaE (48)

14 BF

Authorised ordinary shares

EEESBER
Par value Number of
uss shares US$'000
HEXT RBEE FER
At 31 December 2007 and Z=ZFZE+F+-_A=+—HK
31 December 2008 —ZEENF+=-_A=1+—H 0.01 10,000,000,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares

ERTRAZEER
Par value Number of
uss shares US$'000
EEER 138 E FER
At 31 December 2007 and —ZEZE+F+_-_A=+—"HRK
31 December 2008 —EEN\F+-_F=1+—H 0.01 1,522,742,000 15,228

On 13 June 2003, a share option scheme and a pre-IPO share
option plan were approved pursuant to a written resolution of
the Company.

Under the share option scheme, the board of directors may at
its discretion offer options to any directors, employees, business
partners or their trustees of the Group which entitle them to
subscribe for shares in aggregate not exceed 10% of the shares
in issue from time to time. These options have duration of ten
years from the date of grant, but shall lapse where the grantee
ceases to be employed by the Company or its subsidiaries. No
share options were granted by the Company under the share
option scheme during the current and previous years.

Under the pre-IPO share option plan (“Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme”), the board of directors may at its discretion offer
options to any directors or employees of the Group and its
subsidiaries which entitle them to subscribe for shares of
the Company. On 13 June 2003, 24,500,000 options and
5,270,000 options were granted to directors of the Company
and employees of the Group, respectively, under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme. These options are exercisable in
accordance with the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
commencing on 13 June 2004 and up to 12 June 2008, whilst
all outstanding share options lapsed before 31 December 2008.

R-ZFZE=FXA+=R A2FAERE
EEARBRMEBREFERERARAE
P A B AR R A &

REBERESS EFSURNBERAKHE
EHES BE EBBHABRSENZEA
BHBERE BTREENZBAATE
BRREETRDI0O%AIRND - ZEEAR
BOARBAERHEE AL S+ 5
KRR ZAER AT B R ENAR R HEMN
B AR R e AR BEARF RBEYE
AR R St B3R A ] AR -

BB X ARERATERETE ([ER
ARERAERETE]) E=20BE
MASEREWNBARTWNESRES
BEERE BTREENRERQAR
H-—_TT=FA+=H EFLRE
BRXAAERATERETE DB RAR
RIEERAEEESEH24,500,0000 &
5,270,00017 i - 2 EBREE =TT
WESAB+=HE2=FTN\FA+=H
BRI AR IR B R AR & MR BT BB AR A AT 2 A
BRATEE - MATA M ARITEBERENR =T
BENFE+-_A=+—HBAIKkHK-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAFSERFzMizT (4&)

15 RESERVES 15 GEfE
(@)  Group (a) #%ME
(Note)
Merger
Share Exchange reserve Retained
premium reserve GHRE earnings Total
RA3 R E EXRE (&) REEF &t

US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
TER TER TER TET TER

At 1 January 2007 RZZELF—A—H 47,358 5,196 79,994 92,486 225,034
Profit for the year AEERF - - - 16,856 16,856
Dividends [Eds - - - (6,422) (6,422)
Exchange translation X ERE

differences - 2,435 - - 2,435
At 31 December 2007 RZZETLEFT-A=+—H 47,358 7,631 79,994 102,920 237,903
Representing: HIE

2007 Final dividend ERRAH-_ZTLF

proposed RERE 4,432

Others Hith 98,488

Retained earnings asat W=-ZZE+F+=-A=+—H

31 December 2007 HRE BT 102,920
At 1 January 2008 RZZEENF—A—H 47,358 7,631 79,994 102,920 237,903
Profit for the year AEERF - - - 8,403 8,403
Dividends gy = = = (9,076) (9,076)
Exchange translation BN EE

differences - 2,573 - - 2,573
At 31 December 2008 R-ZENF+-_A=+—H 47,358 10,204 79,994 102,247 239,803
Representing: E:

2008 Final dividend BBERNHN_ZTNF

proposed RERR B -

Others Hity 102,247

Retained earnings asat R=-ZZE/\F+=-A=+—8H

31 December 2008 HREBEF 102,247
Note: i
The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference AEENAHBENAEER _ZT =
between the nominal value of the share capital and share F+ = A =175 A 52K E 48 55 7 U B8 B
premium of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group B AR R R ANEE R ARG & EEARR R
reorganisation completed on 26 December 2002 and the nominal AR|mETRAEBELNZERE -

value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange

thereof.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERFzMHizE (4&)

15 RESERVES (continued) 15 f#fs (#&)
(b) Company (b) ZA&AF
Share Retained
premium earnings Total
B 15 518 REBF &5t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2007 R_EZ+F—H—H 194,098 10,911 205,009
Profit for the year REZAF = 10,332 10,332
Dividends i & = (6,422) (6,422)
At 31 December 2007 R-EZELF+-_A=+—8 194,098 14,821 208,919
Representing: Bp:
2007 Final dividend BERNHN_ZZLEF
proposed REARE 4,432

Others Hit 10,389

Retained earnings asat RW-_TT+F+_A=+—H

31 December 2007 MR B & F 14,821
At 1 January 2008 RZZEENEFE—HF—H 194,098 14,821 208,919
Profit for the year REZAF = 7,988 7,988
Dividends % & = (9,076) (9,076)
At 31 December 2008 RZEENFE+=A=+—H 194,098 13,733 207,831
Representing: Bl

2008 Final dividend BRERNH-ZTN\EF

proposed REARE -

Others Hit 13,733

Retained earningsasat RW-_TZNF+_A=+—H

31 December 2008 MR B & F 13,733
Pursuant to Section 34 of the Cayman Companies Law BEFAEHEEAFE(ZEET=F
(2003 Revision) and the Articles of Association of the 18RTHR ) B34 AR AR Z T2 40
Company, share premium of the Company is available Al AR A B I 5 % B Al DR T AR
for distribution to shareholders subject to a solvency RoWEARAREAEEREBENEFE
test on the Company and the provision of the Articles of AR BB EIRAA AR TE -

Association of the Company.
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16 TRADE PAYABLES - GROUP 16 ERBHEFR-FEEH
As at 31 December 2008, the ageing analysis of trade payables RZZEENF+_A=1+—HB ERNESH
is as follows: RAHBRER DT
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FTEn F=T
Current B EA 7,733 11,688
30-90 days 30F90K 3,201 1,436
91-180 days 91£ 180K 3,368 89
181-365 days 181E365K 33 2
14,335 13,215
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are AEHEENESEFOREERA TG
denominated in the following currencies: FHE
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Vietnam Dong eIy ey 4,564 6,906
us$ SV 4,272 5,744
PRC Renminbi HEARE 5,499 565
14,335 13,215
17 BANK BORROWINGS 17 HRITEM
Group Company
rEH PN
2008 2007 2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000 Us$’000 Us$'000
FEx FET FEx F=T
Long-term bank borrowings KHIRITE R
— secured (Note 35) — BT (FfFE35) 3,746 21,335 - =
— unsecured — K 10,746 4,792 - =
Current portion of long- REBRTERZ
term bank borrowings BN ERER 1
— secured —HEA (1,873) (4,673) - =
— unsecured — K (5,067) (5,833) - =
7,552 15,621 - -
Short-term bank RERITER
borrowings
- unsecured (Note 33) — A (HEE33) 38,660 18,969 9,713 6,291
38,660 18,969 9,713 6,291
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERZFzMizE (4&)

17 BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 17 SBITER(#\E)
As at 31 December 2008, the Group's long-term bank RZZEZNF+TA=+—H KEEH
borrowings were repayable as follows: RERITERAER A T HFEERER:
Group Company
rEH PN
2008 2007 2008 2007

Uss$'000 Us$'000 Us$’'000 Us$'000
FER FTET FXn FTET

Within one year —F 6,940 10,506 - =
Between 1 and 2 years —Z =4 7,552 7,081 - =
Between 2 and 5 years —ERF - 8,540 - =
14,492 26,127 - _
The exposure of the Group's borrowings to interest-rate RMEEMCFENAEBERRANTEN
changes and the contractual repricing dates are as follows: FIEB T
6-12
Within 1-3 3-6 months
1 month months months RE Total
—-BAR —-Z=f@A Z=ZXM@A +=@A &%t

US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
T e S S T

At 31 December 2007 RZBZR+LE+-A=+—H
Total borrowings EXeE 23,325 11,355 10,416 - 45,096
At 31 December 2008 RZZENF+=A=+—H
Total borrowings Exms 35,377 13,400 4,375 = 53,152
The exposure of the Company’s borrowings to interest-rate SRR ENARRER RN EEN
changes and the contractual repricing dates are as follows: FIERAT :
Within 1-3
1 month months Total
—EBAR —Z=@A &5t
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FET F=rx F=T
At 31 December 2007 RZEZLFE+=RA=+—H
Total borrowings B 2,500 3,791 6,291
At 31 December 2008 RZZENFF+=—A=+—H
Total borrowings BERaE 1,800 7,913 9,713
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAFSERFzMizT (4&)

17 BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 17 SRITER(#\E)
The effective interest rates per annum of the Group at the REZEH AEEERERNENT:

balance sheet date were as follows:

2008 2007
New New
PRC Taiwan PRC Taiwan
US dollar  Renminbi dollar US dollar Renminbi dollar

En TEAR® Haw T REARK mak

Bank borrowings BITER 53% 6.7% 4% 6.3% 7.1% 3.5%

The effective interest rates per annum of the Company at the REEBH ARAREERFFNEMAT
balance sheet date were as follows:

2008 2007
New New
Taiwan Taiwan
Us dollar dollar Us dollar dollar
E0 A EYv Ak
Bank borrowings RITE K 4.1% 4% 5.9% 3.5%
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximate their RITEFRNERNSRBOREATEE-
fair value.
The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in RITEFNEASBRATER.E:
the following currencies:
Group Company
rEH NN
2008 2007 2008 2007

Uss$’000 Us$'000 Us$’000 Us$'000
TER T FTXn FTxT

us$ e 46,752 35,624 8,800 2,500
PRC Renminbi FEARY 5,487 5,681 - =
New Taiwan dollar e 913 3,791 913 3,791

53,152 45,096 9,713 6,291
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERZFzMizE (4&)

18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX - GROUP 18

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using the principal
taxation rates prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

The movement on the deferred income tax liabilities account is

BEF#H-F%E
RS 719 0 TYAR IR B (5% DA 4R B B B
ERRE B R ERAA S 2 E

7z
Ho
>t

BEFMBHABRESHMT

as follows:

2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FTEx FET
At 1 January R—HA—H 10,544 11,449
Credited to income statement (Note 24) AWz FR (MiEE24) (1,047) (905)
At 31 December R+ZRA=+—H 9,497 10,544

Provided for in respect of: BEERARN:
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FTEn F=T
Accelerated tax depreciation hRBIIE ST E 10,179 11,243
Other temporary differences HEMErRE (682) (699)
9,497 10,544
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B BmA M A (48)

18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX - GROUP (continued) 18 EEFRFBM—F5EME (8)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities AEERLEMBHEEREE (KRIKHME
(prior to offsetting of balances within the same taxation FRB AR AR WEBMT
jurisdiction) during the year is as follows:
Deferred income tax liabilities ELEFREHEE
Accelerated tax depreciation
MEHBIE
2008 2007
us$’000 us$'000
FEx FZET
At 1 January R—HA—H 11,243 12,017
Credited to income statement A= F (1,064) (774)
At 31 December WN+=ZA=+—8 10,179 11,243
Deferred income tax assets BEERESHEE
Other temporary differences
HiEr =48
2008 2007
us$’000 Us$'000
FEx FET
At 1 January ®n—A—H (699) (568)
Charged/(credited) to income statement me (GEA) REE 17 (131)
At 31 December W+ZA=+—8 (682) (699)
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there i B LT AN TEREF A5 38 A F T & B i
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against RAEMIEE GRS BREMEHY RIE
current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income AR REE IS ECHEHEEHRSR
taxes relate to income taxed levied by the same fiscal authority. B FMBEEMSHEERBRBEE
The above deferred income tax assets and liabilities have been B ARG EEAEREEMEHA
offset and are shown in the consolidated balance sheet under BIET o
deferred income tax liabilities.
19 REVENUE 19 K&

The Group manufactures and sells fermentation-based food
additives, biochemical products and cassava starch-based
industrial products including modified starch, glucose syrup,
MSG, soda, acid and beverages. Turnover recognised for the
years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 is US$348,557,000
and US$317,431,000 respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

21

IR A M ()

20 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS-NET 20 Hfh (K8 KkE-F#
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FXE5x FET
Net exchange (loss)/gain SREEN (BE) /s (1,538) 816
Net loss from sale of electricity LEENFEE (74) (14)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, LEME WEREE
plant and equipment (E518) s (35) 603
Sale of scrap materials BERHE 439 489
Interest income from held-to-maturity BEEIHANEE
financial assets AEMBRA 245 248
Others Hitb 767 271
(196) 2,413
EXPENSES BY NATURE 21 HEUEESEHRAX
Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution SHEKAR  $HE KD X RITHF X T
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as follows: BENRAISWAT:
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FEn F=T
Changes in inventories of finished goods BN MAMERRTTE )
and work-in-progress (Note 12) (FFzE12) (10) 5,952
Raw materials and consumables used B A RE S @ 243,933 213,713
Amortisation of intangible assets EmVEESH 1,474 1,462
Amortisation of land use rights 4 Hb {5 A A 4 145 135
Auditor’s remuneration % BRI B & 295 295
Depreciation on property, plant and Y- BREREETE
equipment (Note 7) (BRF5E7) 29,307 28,050
Provision for impairment of property, plant  #1% - R M & & RE
and equipment (Note 7) B1iE (MsE7) 2,154 =
Operating leases expenses in respect of BAMEE T HEEHON
leasehold land = 163 149
Employee benefit expenses (Note 28) BEERMFA X (Hix28) 21,727 18,109
Provision for impairment of trade EWE 5 REFORERE
receivables (Note 11) (BFEET1) 396 2
Other expenses HiAx 26,214 26,875
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution S5 &M A - 5 K2 85
expenses and administrative expenses M RITHFAX 2R 325,798 294,742
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22

23

B BmA M A (48)

ENVIRONMENTAL CHARGES IMPOSED BY 22 BEBAFREMHREHERER
VIETNAM GOVERNMENT
In September 2008, the Group's subsidiaries in Vietnam RZZTZENFENA  RNEBERBEE B
were under inspection by Vietnam Environmental Protection ARG E TEEFHEEX BEANBEE
Administration in Vietnam for certain environmental issues. RERBRREBAE-RZZEZENF+AN
On 8 October 2008, the Group received a decision from the B AEBERRACEVERASEER
Inspection Unit that the Group had been in violation of certain MEETRBEEMNNAZ -AEBEES R
environmental laws in Vietnam. The Group is required to % -1 #916,000% 7T 27,713,000 JTE &
pay approximately US$16,000 and US$7,713,000 as penalty SIREBRREA 2HZEIRRRESE
and environmental fees respectively. All these penalty and RAERGERERPRHE - RBEFE -
environmental fees have been recorded in the consolidated ERERBERNEBOMGETRERE MM
income statement. In prior years, management estimated FARNBRXNOREER - EERA  #
the environmental fee paid to the government based on the BRI gE —TBREIR - AEED
estimated sewage disposal by the Group. The Directors are BEEETERULERSEEENRR B2
of the opinion that no further penalty will be imposed by the ERRWKREEREN BRIEEZEER
Vietnam government. The Group has received a number of EERABERE ML IARIE FIA M KM
claims in relation to this environmental issue but none of these BARABE EMBRNEEEKEXNY
claims had been accepted by the courts. Based on a legal B2
opinion, the Directors considered that there is no significant
contingent liabilities due to this environment issue which may
result in material financial impact to the Group.
FINANCE COSTS - NET 23 MBXH-$E
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FTEn F=T
Interest income F B U A (2,267) (374)
Interest expense on bank borrowings IRITEFF BHAX 3,200 4,223
Amortisation of discount on long-term REEN —BBEZEALH
payable to a related party (Note 34(c)) PR oy (FIsE34(c)) 439 515
3,639 4,738
Finance costs — net M H—FE 1,372 4,364
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERZFzMizE (4&)

24 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 24 FR{MRMAX
The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated income RiEAE W ER AR EHAZ 2 :

statement represents:

2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FE5T FxT
Enterprise income tax (“EIT") EMER ([REMSH) 7,694 5,764
Under provision of income tax in BAFEMSHBHETR
previous years 406 19
Deferred income tax (Note 18) EIEFTER (H7E18) (1,047) (905)
7,053 4,878
The income tax on the Group's profit before income tax RE B REHFTEE R &IPS B 8 w2
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using RARNANREZNMB AR KA ()R
the applicable taxation rate for Vedan (Vietnam) Enterprise MAERAE (MEEKADEEAREM
Corporation Limited (“Vietnam Vedan"”), which is a major FERNERN R EREAT
subsidiary of the Company, as follows:
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FTEn FET
Profit before taxation W 54 Al 22 A 13,462 20,738
Calculated at taxation rate of 15% B EI5%E
(2007: 15%) (ZEZTLEF:15%) 2,019 3,110
Effect of different tax rate TEBEZZE (133) (442)
Income not subject to tax BB HR WA (300) (152)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AR AR B 2 3,922 1,630
Under provision of income tax BAFEMSHBEHETR
in previous years 406 19
Utilisation of previously unrecognised B) i 2 AR HE R 5 & 18
tax losses (92) (463)
Tax losses for which no deferred income ERARLEMENEED
tax asset was recognised s 1,231 1,176
Taxation charge MIBX W 7,053 4,878
Deferred income tax assets are recognised in respect of EIEFTS & B TH A FE AR BB 75 K &5 7T 48
tax losses carried forward to the extent that realisation of i8R SRR AR A IR i BE P A e M R AR
the related tax benefit through the future taxable profits VEMERR - AN B A R TR Bi188,897,0003%
is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses of TT(ZZTZ 4 :4,123,0005 JT ) 0] 4% &
US$8,897,000 (2007: US$4,123,000) to carry forward against DA S R R FER TN - 2 EFIB R —
future taxable income. These tax losses will expire in one to five FERFMRFE-
years.
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24 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Enterprise income tax (“EIT")

(1) Vietnam
EIT is provided on the basis of the statutory profit for
financial reporting purposes, adjusted for income and
expenses items which are not assessable or deductible
for income tax purposes. The applicable EIT rates for the
Group's operations in Vietnam range from 10% to 25%,
as stipulated in the respective subsidiaries’ investment
licenses.

(i)~ The PRC
EIT is provided on the basis of the statutory profit for
financial reporting purposes, adjusted for income and
expenses items which are not assessable or deductible
for income tax purposes. The applicable EIT rate for the
Group's operation in the PRC range from 12.5% to 25%.

Xiamen Maotai, Shanghai Vedan and Shandong
Snowflake are entitled to full exemption from EIT for the
first two years and 50% reduction in EIT for the next
three years, commencing from the first profitable year
after offsetting all unexpired tax losses brought forward
from the previous years.

(i) Singapore/Hong Kong
No Singapore/Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as
the Group had no estimated assessable profit arising in or
derived from Singapore and Hong Kong during the year.

(iv)  Taiwan
EIT is provided on the basis of the statutory profit for
financial reporting purposes, adjusted for income and
expenses items which are not assessable or deductible
for income tax purposes. The applicable EIT rate for the
Group's operations in Taiwan is 25%.

25 PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The profit attributable to shareholders is dealt with in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company to the extent
of US$7,988,000 (2007: US$10,332,000).
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TEFRESH ([LEHREH])

(i) HHE
RS IRV 5 B IR AT & T
TE - BRATS A EARB SR
UM TE B B F8% - REBE
MENEBERCEMSHENT
10%E25% EHBARSAMKRE
FF A B FT AR 5E ©

(i) HE]
EMBHRIZMERRAETRT
FTE - BB BB AR A
R R M TE B R A% - NEETE
FENESBACEMSRENT
12.5%%25% °

EFEER  EBRARIUREEAER
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BRE REERNFERAGTZE
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R

(iii)  FE S E
B A 7 52 [ A AN 4 I 4B 75 3T D3R
REBSBRISESHEERAT
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Bt
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IR A M ()

26 DIVIDENDS 26 BR
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FEx FET
2008 Interim dividend of 0.305 US cents BN NFRERKE
(2007: 0.26203 US cents) per ordinary T mAR0.305% L
share, paid —ETLF:
0.262033 1) 4,644 3,990
No final dividend was proposed for 2008 ZET ) N\FIERIR
(2007: 0.29105 US cents per ordinary N EA AR B
share) —EELF 8K
3AA%0.291053% 1) - 4,432
4,644 8,422
27 EARNINGS PER SHARE 27 HERERF
Basic HAR

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company over the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

BRERBNEARRBRER A ARGR
FBR LA A B 317 5 B A I0#E 19 8Gt
%0

2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FEn FET
Profit attributable to equity holders of RAaIRERE A
the Company FE1R & 8,403 16,856
Weighted average number of ordinary BEBITE BARINET S8
shares in issue (thousands) (BATF &) 1,522,742 1,522,742
Basic earnings per share BREREF
(US cents per share) (FR&EM) 0.55 1.11

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all share options. A calculation is done to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average annual market share price of
the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. The
number of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the pre-IPO share options. During the year ended
31 December 2008, the outstanding share options have anti-
diluted impact. Therefore, the diluted earnings per share for the
year ended 31 December 2008 is the same as basic earnings
per share (2007: US1.10 cents per share).

#ig

BREERNTIREBRITEAABREND
HEEBRTEBREME TUFHE - BRNHHK
BN EARBEHARTEBRENEN
ARERNEREE BRAFE(AEXAF
BB FHEETSERER)BANR
BB - RELAFEFSEORNEKE &
RERATE B R AFE KA BB RS 3%
THERNBELR -BE_TT/N\F+=
A=+ —BLEFE WARTENERER
R&EBHE- At BE_TENF+ =
A=t HLEFENESRETRNESR
EXANER(ZFTLF: 8R1.10X
fill) -
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28

29

B BmA M A (48)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 28 EERIAXZ (BREEFHM)
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FX5x FET
Wages, basic salaries and allowances IE ¥ &REM 17,767 14,574
Bonuses TEAT 630 1,634
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  ERE&MKA — EREE R E 1,400 903
Other employee benefits Hih{E BE7 1,930 998
21,727 18,109
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 29 ERERAKIEF

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
contributes to state-sponsored defined contribution retirement
plans for its employees in Xiamen, Shandong and Shanghai,
the PRC. The Group contributes to the plans at rates ranging
from 8% to 22% of the basic salaries predetermined by
local governments. The state-sponsored retirement plans
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
retired employees. For the year ended 31 December 2008,
the Group has contributed approximately US$503,000 (2007:
US$215,000) to the aforesaid state-sponsored retirement plans.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Vietnam, the Group
contributes to stated-sponsored employees’ social insurance
scheme for its employees in Vietnam. The Group contributes
to the scheme at a rate of 17% of the employee’s salary. The
state-sponsored social insurance scheme is responsible for
the entire obligations payable to retired employees. For the
year ended 31 December 2008, the Group has contributed
approximately US$733,000 (2007: US$584,000) to the
aforesaid state-sponsored social insurance scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAF&ERZFzMizE (4&)

30 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 30 ESREREEEMFMH
MANAGEMENT
(a) The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid and payable (@) AFEAEEMARAEZEEFEMNR
to the directors of the Company by the Group during the FEREFHMAERT

year are as follows:

2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FEnx Fx=T
Fees bk - -
Basic salaries and allowances JEX 357 K & B 1,472 1,435
Discretionary bonuses B8 B TEAT 588 1,575
2,060 3,010
None of the directors of the Company waived any AREEFARNREZWEBETME
emoluments during the year (2007: Nil). (=TT LF &)
The remuneration of the directors of the Company for the HE-_TZ N\F+=—A=+—H1t
year ended 31 December 2008 is set out below: FEARBESNFTNEHIET
Discretionary Other
Fees Salary bonuses benefits (i) Total
Name of Director Sz he ¢ BERRRA HAER() &t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
TETL TEn TEL TEL TETL
Executive Director BITES:
Mr. Yang, Tou-Hsiung BEEEE - 369 394 13 776
Mr. Yang, Cheng BEXE - 200 179 13 392
Mr. Yang, Kun-Hsiang RERELE - 329 7 13 349
M. Yang, Chen-Wen BRX L - 24 4 13 241
Mr. Wang, Joel J. IEHEE - 24 4 13 241
Non-executive Director FHTES:
Mr. Chou, Sze-Cheng ABELE = = = 12 12
Mr. Huang, Ching-Jung et St - - - 13 13
Independent BUFHTES:
non-executive Director
Mr. Chao, Pei-Hong BELLE = = = 12 12
Ms. Chuang, Shu-Fen 19058 = = = 12 12
Mr. Ko, Jim-Chen ffkExs - - = 12 12
Total = - 1,346 588 126 2,060
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30 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 30 ESREREEEMEFMH (8)
MANAGEMENT (continued)
The remuneration of the directors of the Company for the BE-_ZTLtHF+-_A=+—H1t
year ended 31 December 2007 is set out below: FEARRBEENHMEHSIOT :
Discretionary Other
Fees Salary bonuses benefits(i) Total
Name of Director ESpz e ¥e  BEBERRRA HiERI() &t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
TEn A Fxr T TEr
Executive Director BTES:
Mr. Yang, Tou-Hsiung BRELE - 356 945 16 1317
Mr. Yang, Cheng BIELE - 200 47 13 685
Mr. Yang, Kun-Hsiang BHRELE - 314 7 16 402
Mr. Yang, Chen-Wen BRXEE - 204 43 16 263
Mr. Wang, Joel J. FEHEE - 23 43 16 282
Non-executive Director FUTES:
Mr. Chou, Sze-Cheng (Note (i) BB %4 (H (i) - - - 12 12
Mr. Huang, Ching-Jung BRAKE - - - 13 13
Mr. Lam, Tuan (Note (i) MR 5 2 (M3EG)) - - - - -
Independent BUFHTES:
non-executive Director
Mr. Chao, Pei-Hong BEREE - - - 12 12
Ms. Chuang, Shu-Fen RSt - - - 12 12
Mr. Ko, Jim-Chen mEEELE - - - 12 12
Total At - 1297 1,575 138 3,010
Notes: BT
(i) Other benefits include travelling allowance. ()  EMEMeEERRM-.
(i)~ Mr. Chou, Szu-Cheng was appointed while Mr. Lam, Tuan (iiy REBEE_ZZtFE+_A=1+—
resigned as non-executive director of the Company during BILFE ABREEZERERAR
the year ended 31 December 2007. EMITES - MR ERIBE-
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30 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 30 ESREREEHEMEFHN (8)

MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)  The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest b) AEEMEFEAZRSHTHO RN
in the Group for both years were also directors and their ATHRES RENMES2EN L
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. XA e

(c) During the year, no emoluments have been paid to (0 AFEIEMARAAEFTHIAEEH

the directors of the Company or the five highest paid A sm B MA T AINE - (ERA
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or as 180 A AN 5 Bl /Y 2 B) ok B Bl v (E o
compensation for loss of office.
There is no outstanding share option as at 31 December RZBZENF+_RA=+—HAHE
2008. Details of the share options outstanding as at 31 BRERRITE - R_FZLF+=
December 2007 which have been granted to the Directors R=+—HBRBEAAFERAE
of the Group under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are RAEETER TESME RITERE
as follows: MAEFFIFEDT

Number of options

BREZAE
Held as at
31 December 2007 Exercise
Directors R-ZEBLF price Date of grant Exercise period
=2 +t-A=+-B#%E T8 i B H TREAH
Mr. YANG, Tou-Hsiung 4,500,000 HK$0.801 13 June 2003 13 June 2004 to
1RSR IR A 0.801/% 7T —TT=F 12 June 2008
~NA+=H ZTEMERATZ=HZE
—TEN\FERA+ZH
Mr. YANG, Chen-Wen 4,500,000 HK$0.801 13 June 2003 13 June 2004 to
MRk AE 0.8017% 7T ZTT=F 12 June 2008
~A+=AH —TEMERAT=HE
—TEN\EFERA+=H
Mr. YANG, Cheng 4,500,000 HK$0.801 13 June 2003 13 June 2004 to
BIELE 0.8017 7T ZET=F 12 June 2008
~NA+=H “TEMERATZ=HE
—EEN\ERA+Z=H
Mr. YANG, Kun-Hsiang 4,500,000 HK$0.801 13 June 2003 13 June 2004 to
15 3R 52 A 0.8017% 7T —ZZ= 12 June 2008

~NAT=H —EENFEXRA+=HZE
—EZN\FXRAt+=H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAFSERFzMizT (4&)

31 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 31 BEEEMEAS
2008 2007
USs$’000 Us$'000
FERr FET
Profit before income tax REHFTS B AT & T 13,462 20,738
Adjustments for: A TR FE:
Finance costs — net (Note 23) BE S —FE (FFEE23) 1,372 4,364
Interest received from held-to-maturity BERFEBEEL RS F
financial assets BEEME (245) (248)
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREBTE
plant and equipment (Note 7) (HfE7) 29,307 28,050
Provision for impairment of property, M RE KRR ERE
plant and equipment (Note 7) (PfF3E7) 2,154 -
Provision for impairment of trade Z 5 MW R FOR B B
receivables (Note 11) (BtsE11) 396 2
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 8) %2 & E #85 (HI5E8) 1,474 1,462
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 6) s 5 R R 8 (BT RE6) 145 135
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, LEME - B REE
plant and equipment (see below) miE () (RR30) 35 (603)
48,100 53,900
Change in working capital (excluding EBEES B (RHWE
the effects of acquisition and HERREEER
exchange difference on consolidation) EHER)
- Inventories 78 (16,326) 9,350
— Trade receivables, prepayments and —FEIE 5 R - B R
other receivables T8 2 Ho A FE WK IR 13,379 (4,508)
— Trade payables, accruals and —ERNEBZENR EHE
other payables FA R E b FE A5 5B 4,991 (3,109)
— Amount due to minority interest — e D B R BUIA (1,153) =
— Amount due to a related party —EN—BEBEALTR
=] (87) 43
Cash generated from operations KEXEBRMSEHE® 48,904 55,676
In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from sale of it HenERAN LEVE BEK
property, plant and equipment comprise: RBRISRIBAT
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FX5x FET
Net book amount (Note 7) BREVFEE (MIsE7) 94 78
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, LEME BMEREKEZ
plant and equipment (E8R) M= (35) 603
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEME BE K
plant and equipment BABFTIS RIE 59 681
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

IR A M ()

32 COMMITMENTS 32 RiE
(a) Capital commitments for property, plant and (@) ME - BERIRENEREE
equipment
The Group's capital expenditure contracted for at the AEBREEHEFNEREELE Y
balance sheet date but not yet incurred is as follows: BAREPEDT
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FEnx Fx=T
Property, plant and equipment Y BB MR 14,042 3,893
The Company did not have any significant capital RRRRZZTENF+_A="+—
commitment at 31 December 2008 (2007: Nil). B EERMERERAEZ (ZTFL
Fom) o
(b) Lease commitments (b) FMHAEIE
The Group had future aggregate minimum lease AEERE T AT A HHL =1
payments in respect of land and building under non- #9110 78 7 R 2R 32 A5 A B A A0 R
cancellable operating leases as follows: gy
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FER FET
Not later than one year E—FNK 126 125
Later than one year and not later
than five years FZEERFR 482 483
Later than five years FRF®R 3,341 3,411
3,949 4,019
The Company did not have any significant commitment RARRZZEENFTZRA=+—
under operating lease at 31 December 2008 (2007: Nil). HELEMEA T I (] B R
(ZZTEF:8],)o
33 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33 HRAR
Save as disclosed in Note 22 to the financial statements, the PRAT IR E22F B ESN AKE R
RRBZHABERAT :

contingent liabilities of the Group and the Company are as
follows:

As at 31 December 2008, the Company has given
guarantees for bank borrowings of subsidiaries amounting
to US$173,220,017 (2007: US$179,249,000) of which
US$129,038,781 (2007: US$141,102,000) has not been
utilised.

RZZENE+_A=+—8 &2
AAMBARARBRITEERE ZER
#173,220,01 7L (=TT L F:
179,249,000% 7t ) * H 129,038,781
T (ZZZ+4:141,102,000% 7T ) i &
A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) BAFSERFzMizT (4&)

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3 FREALETES

(a) The table below summaries the names of related parties (a) TR R—_ZEENFE+ A
and nature of relationship with the Company as at 31 =+ HEHEEALTREBRELARD
December 2008: AR BRI E
Related parties Relationship with the Company
BREAL BEARTWER
Taiwan Vedan A substantial shareholder of the Company
BB KA EERR
Tung Hai Fermentation Industrial Company Limited A subsidiary of a Taiwan Vedan

(“Tung Hai") BEKANHE AR

REBBETERNBRAR ([RE])

(b) Significant related parties transactions, which were (b) EXREEBEHEEBREBAEAL
carried out in the normal course of the Group's business ETHEAZSHIAT

are as follows:

2008 2007

Note US$’000 Us$'000

B 5 FER FExT

Sale of goods to Taiwan Vedan M A ERTEE E M 0) 2,552 2,584
Technological support fee paid to [ 5 & & & &L

Tung Hai and Taiwan Vedan XM EE (i) 2,755 2,653

Commission income from IER & R FHEY

Taiwan Vedan Bl (ii) 114 85

Commission paid to Taiwan Vedan & & /&5 32 4 &)

(i ON (ii) - 12

Notes: Bt 3

(i) In the opinion of the directors of the Company, sales to (i) KARIEERABABHAEATHE
the related party were conducted in the normal course R HEEETET BER KK
of business at prices and terms no less favourable than RTBERASEEEME=2%KF
those charged to and contracted with other third party RS AT AT RET S A B RARFK ©
customers of the Group.

(i) In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the (i) ARAEERRZERHERE
transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of ¥ WHAREMABRRED
business and the fees are charged in accordance with the {6 TR U B o
terms of underlying agreements.

() Key management compensation () TEEEAEMS
2008 2007
Us$’000 Us$'000
FEx F=ET
Salaries and other short-term FEeRHEMBAETREF
employee benefits 2,156 2,949
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

35

(d)

IR A M ()

3 AREALES (&)

Balances with related parties (d BEEALTHEER

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had the following RZZEZNF+ZA=+—H &

significant balances with related parties: EHBRENTAATERER:

2008 2007
Note Us$’000 Us$'000
B 5 FEx F=Ex
Current: RNER :
Trade receivable from Taiwan U EERSE 5 HRIE
Vedan (Note 11) (HEzE11) 0) 320 339
Due to Taiwan Vedan FEf & E R T RIE 0 214 301
Current portion of the amount FREEEEEMNAE
due to Taiwan Vedan in R S5 3R I8 B HA 56 19
connection with assignment of
trademarks (i) 1,786 1,705
Non-current: SERNER :
Non-current portion of the FHREEREENGE
amount due to Taiwan Vedan UK SRIE FE BN R EL 15
in connection with assignment
of trademarks (ii) 5,902 7,688

Notes: B 5

(i) All these balances with related parties are unsecured, (i) BREEANTHA G HYERE
interest-free and repayable on demand. ke s BREHRER-

(i)~ The amount represents the fair value payable to Taiwan (i) ZRAEHERPERE TEHEM
Vedan for assignment of certain trademarks. It is payable i AERA 2 AT E HERZ
by seven equal annual instalment commencing on 1 T+ E-A—HR S tHEF
January 2007. The face amount is US$15,014,000 and KRR R - E{E 415,014,000
was discounted to fair value using a rate based on the EoT WIRRIREEREIZERZE
borrowing rate of 4.7% at the date of assignment of the BREATEFAEZHNEFBRER
trademarks. SRR

BANKING FACILITIES 35 fRITEH

Save as disclosed in Notes 13 and 33 to the financial
statements, the Group’s bank borrowings of US$3,746,000
as at 31 December 2008 (2007: US$21,335,000) were
secured by legal charges over certain of the Group's property,
plant and equipment with net book value of approximately
US$19,315,000 (2007: property, plant and equipments and
land use rights of US$25,417,000).

BB IS SRR M AE13 R 33FT M B & S
AEBR-_ZZENF+=_A=+—H
Z $R1TE 3,746,000 L (T T +
% :21,335,000%0) M ER M FE L
19,315,000 T2 & T AL B E K~
B2 EAEER (ZSTLF WX |
B K 3% 48 & L i {F B3 4##25,417,000% 7T)
{EL I o
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFPHEHE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 BE+-A=+—HLEFERAEER

DECEMBER
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET FET FET FET
Turnover % 348,557 317,431 290,695 257,904 224,976
Profit before taxation F& B AT & K1) 13,462 20,738 14,762 10,240 29,887
Taxation HiIE (7,053) (4,878) (3,827) (2,293) (5,553)
Profit for the year and ~ ANFE A F| &
attributable to equity PIN/NE N g
holders of the HA AEMN
Company A7 8,403 16,856 10,915 7,947 24,334
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AS AT 31 Rt-—A=t+—HEaHRERAR
DECEMBER
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEx FZET FZET FET FET
Assets and liabilities EENAE
Total assets BEERTE 360,497 347,840 367,458 371,340 337,269
Total liabilities BEBE (102,587) (90,124) (123,474) (134,685) (102,748)
Total equity 7 48 B 257,910 257,716 243,984 236,655 234,521
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Shareholder Information

i R&E #

Listing Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“HKEx")
Stock Code
HKEXx 2317
Access to Bloombeg 2317 HK Equity
Access to Reuters 2317.HK
Board Lot 4,000
Par Value : US$0.01
Trading Currency : HKD

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Financial year ended

Full year results announced
Annual general meeting

Interim results to be announced

31 December, 2008
7 April, 2008

22 June, 2009

In the 1st week of

September, 2009*

* subject to change

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

For enquiries about share transfer and registration, please contact the
Company's Hong Kong branch share registrars:

Tengis Limited

26/F Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone : (852) 2980 1768
Facsimile : (852) 2528 3158

Holders of the Company’s shares should notify the Hong Kong
branch share registrars promptly of any change of addresses.

W ERBERSARRAR
R ([EEFT])

& 11X 5%

B X 2317

ZiBhRmE 2317 HK Equity

BB AL AR E 2317 .HK

BEEMN 4,000

HE 0.01% 7T

RHEH &I

METEE

EFEBEFE —EENFE+-_A=+—8H

PEEENMG —EEN\FWALH

BRAFAS —EEAFENA-+=-H

FHEIEE R —EZNFNA

E—(EZ2H~*
* BEEETE
B% R AR %5

ERAEERNEFREL2EH  BHEART]
ZEEBRNBEFERNLR

EREARAT
BIEET

2R RER28E

& B IE L2612

E 55 ¢ (852) 2980 1768
{55 : (852) 2528 3158

FEXRRRBREZ AL BEAUL - FERE
HMARBZEBBEBRNBEERLDER
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Investor Relations

REERRF

The Group has been active in maintaining close relationship
with investors over the years. Its management believes by
maintaining close contact and good communication with investors
in a professional and open manner can allow it to collect more
information and valuable opinions for the benefit of enhancing
corporate governance. Timely disclosure of business strategies and
directions of the Group will also help strengthen investor confidence.

During the year under review, the management team had regular
meetings or conference calls with investors in Hong Kong and was
proactive in the dispatch of latest information about its business
to investors. Information about environmental issue concerning its
Vietnam operation was relayed to investors at first instance. This
is in line with the Group’s commitment to open and transparent
communication as well as ensuring investors fully understand its
operation for making sound investment decisions.

Vedan International appreciates the importance of providing up
to date information about the Group to investors. It continued
to hold one-on-one meetings with investors as well as group
presentations. Since listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong,
the Group has organized investor presentations for interim and
annual results announcements in Hong Kong, during which the
management explained to investors the Group’s latest operations
and future development plans. During the year under review, the
Group met with and hosted more than 20 one-on-one meetings and
teleconferences with renowned international institutional investors
including Merrill Lynch, Credit Suisse, Macquarie, Citigroup, Value
Partners, BOCI, DBS Vickers, etc., making use of all the different
important channels to build investor relations.

In addition, the Group maintains interaction with investors via its
website. During the year, the Group posted its annual reports, interim
reports and all relevant announcements on its website promptly for
the convenient access and reference by investors. The Company
website address is: http://www.vedaninternational.com

Vedan welcomes all opinions and suggestions from investors.

The e-mail address of its investor relations department is
vdi@vedaninternational.com
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